
 

 

 2 0 1 4  Annual Report 
 Includes Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2014 

District of Mission, British Columbia, Canada 



2014 Annual Report 

 

 

District of Mission 
British Columbia, Canada 

Recipient of GFOA Award for Excellence in Financial Reporting since 2006 

The Government Finance Officers Association of the 
United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded a Canadian 
Award for Financial Reporting to the District of Mission for 
its annual financial report for the fiscal year ended 
December 31, 2013.  The Canadian Award for Financial 
Reporting program was established to encourage 
municipal governments throughout Canada to publish 
high quality financial reports and to provide peer 
recognition and technical guidance for officials preparing 
these reports. 

In order to be awarded a Canadian Award for Financial 
Reporting, a government unit must publish an easily 
readable and efficiently organized annual financial report, 
whose contents conform to program standards.  Such 
reports go beyond the minimum requirements of generally 
accepted accounting principles and demonstrate an effort 
to clearly communicate the municipal government’s 
financial picture, enhance an understanding of financial 
reporting by municipal governments, and address user 
needs. 

A Canadian Award for Financial Reporting is valid for a 
period of one year only.  We believe our current report 
continues to conform to the Canadian Award for Financial 
Reporting program requirements, and we are submitting it 
to the GFOA for consideration. 

GCC Communique Climate Action Recognition Program 

The District of Mission was awarded Level 2 recognition - Measurement, 
for completing a corporate carbon inventory for 2013 reporting year and 
for demonstrating familiarity with the Community Energy and Emissions 
Inventory.  
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Message from Council 
The current Council of the District of Mission supports and 
approves this annual report, which includes the District’s 
audited 2014 consolidated financial statements, as well as 
the many accomplishments over the past year, such as the 
2014 BC Winter Games. 

 

This report details the completion of the objectives of the 
previous Council. While our vision for the community and 
priorities are significantly different from those of the 
previous Council, we respect and appreciate staff for their 
dedication to delivering on the priorities and objectives of 
their elected officials.  

 

As your newly elected Council, we have been extremely 
busy since taking office in December, and will be working 
with senior staff to complete a strategic plan.  We are proud 
to note that improvements to our parks and enhanced 
recreation and lifestyle opportunities form the bedrock of 
our vision on how we will move Mission forward. 

 

With this in mind, a Parks and Recreation Advisory Committee will be implemented to work with our Parks, Recreation 
and Culture department to oversee improvements across all our parks. Continuing to move forward will be the Stave 
West Master Plan, an ambitious and important vision to transform the Stave West area into a destination for family-
friendly outdoor recreation tourism, and learning.  We are proud that we will be able to be working closely with the 
Province and local First Nations on this important project.   

 

Council remains committed to a vibrant and successful downtown, and will be working with the Mission Downtown 
Business Association on practical and achievable enhancements to Mission’s downtown core.  

 

Council looks forward to developing and implementing strategies to address the challenges of homelessness in our 
community, and are confident that the new Stone Soup initiative will enhance the work of all social services agencies 
and that it will become an important step towards finding better tools for improving quality of life for all our citizens. 

 

Council are committed to continuing to address public safety by working with the RCMP to ensure it has the resources 
necessary to keep our citizens safe, and are anticipating that three new RCMP members will be hired. To help improve 
our ability to respond to the challenges of mental illness and addiction, a new specialized team from Fraser Health will 
be working with Mission RCMP to help address these challenging issues. 

 

Finally, Council has committed that tax increases be maintained in-line with the Vancouver Consumer Price Index, and 
are confident we can deliver on our commitment to both enhance quality of life and carefully manage the finances of the 
District. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

2014-2018 Council 

Mayor Randy Hawes, Councillors Carol Hamilton, Rhett Nicholson, 
Pam Alexis, Jim Hinds, Jenny Stevens, Danny Plecas . Photo credit:: 
Wendy D Photography 
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Back row L-R: Councillors Rhett Nicholson, Jenny Stevens; Jim Hinds, Danny Plecas 
 Front row L-R: Councillor Pam Alexis, Mayor Randy Hawes, Councillor Carol Hamilton 
Photo credit: Wendy D Photography 

Mission’s Mayor and Councillors were elected for a four-year term in the November municipal election of 2014. 
The next municipal election will take place in the fall of 2018.  

The Mayor chairs the Regular Meetings of Council (two meetings per month), and all decisions are expressed 
either by a Council Resolution or a Bylaw.  Many of the matters which Council considers are forwarded through 
the recommendations of the various Standing Committees.  

Each Council member is appointed or sits on certain boards and external committees, select and standing   
committees, commissions and task forces including the following: 

 Cultural Resources Commission 

 Downtown Mission Business Association 

 Economic Development Select Committee 

 Emergency Planning Committee 

 Experience the Fraser Committee 

 Fraser Valley Regional District Board of Directors 
and Hospital Board of Directors  

 Fraser Valley Regional and Corporate Services 
Committee 

 Fraser Valley Regional District/Fraser Health 
Authority-Mission Community Health Project-
Project Building Committee  

 Fraser Valley Regional Library Board 

 Fraser Valley Aboriginal Relations Committee 

 Joint Shared Services Committee 

 LMLGA Flood Control and River Management 
Committee 

 

 Mission Association for Senior Housing 

 Mission Community Foundation 

 Mission Community Heritage Commission 

 Mission District Historical Society 

 Mission Grants Committee 

 Mission Healthy Community Council 

 Mission International Cultural Association 

 Mission Regional Chamber of Commerce 

 Next Generation Civic Engagement Committee 

 Mission Sports Council 

 Senior’s Centre Association 

 Social Development Commission 

 Stave West Working Group 

 Youth Engagement Committee 

Mayor and Council 
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Strategic Plan 
This report on the Strategic Plan represents the completion of the three-year term (2011-2014) for Mission 
Council.  The Strategic Plan for the  Council elected in November 2014 will be detailed in the 2015 Annual 
Report.  

  

2011 - 2014 Mission Statement 
Our purpose is to build a safe, healthy and inclusive community that is abundant in economic, cultural and 
recreational opportunities. 

 
2011 - 2014 Vision 
To be the most business friendly municipality in the Lower Mainland of British Columbia. 

 
Strategic Goals 
1. Financial Sustainability 

2. Economic Development  

3. Infrastructure and Facilities Development 

4. Municipal Operations and Partnerships 

The objectives on the following pages were developed as a guiding tool for the 2011 - 2014 Council to 
measure progress towards each of their strategic goals. 

Enjoying the waterfront. Photo credit: Paul Hockridge. 
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1 - Financial Sustainability 

1.0 Evaluate District Services and Service Levels. 
1.0.a Acceptance and communication of final Core Services Review report, and approval of any 
recommendations to be implemented.   Complete 
1.0.b Approved Core Services Review recommendations fully implemented. 13 of 17 action items 
complete 
1.0.c RCMP resource study received and considered by Council. Complete 

1.1 Achieve Sustainable Forestry Operation Focuses on Ongoing Profitability. 
1.1.a Implementation of approved Forestry Core Services Review recommendations.   Complete 

1.2 Create and Implement Efficient and Effective Financial/Business Planning Processes. 
1.2.a Annual budget formally approved by Council before beginning of each fiscal year.   Complete 
1.2.b Strategic, budget and operational plans are more fully integrated.   Complete 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2 - Economic Development 

2.0 Promote and Stimulate Economic Development and Business Activity. 
2.0.a Additional and accelerated funding for Economic Development Office in place.    Complete 
2.0.b Additional contract resource(s) for Economic Development in place.     Complete 
2.0.c Report to Council identifying any impediments to greater commercial and industrial 
development and implementation of approved strategies to mitigate barriers where possible. 
Complete 

2.1 Revitalize Downtown by Creating an Environment for Private/Other Investment. 
2.1.a Council approval of final downtown revitalization plan and common vision to be implemented. 
Complete 
2.1.b Marketing and communication material to execute the downtown plan produced and used. 
Complete 
2.1.c All required bylaws and policy changes have been presented to Council for consideration.        
Marketing materials to be completed in 2014.  

2.2 Provide for Interim Development Opportunities on the Waterfront. 
2.2.a Report to Council on interim waterfront development options and implementation of any 
approved strategies.    Complete 
2.2.b Final Waterfront planning implementation strategy/report forwarded to Council.     Complete 
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3 - Infrastructure and Facilities Development 

3.0 Create and Maintain Asset Management System. 
3.0.a Development of asset management system. Asset Manager Position filled.   Staff implementing 
system.   
3.0.b Implementation of asset management system.    Work underway. 

3.1 Provide for Mission’s Future Water Needs. 
3.1.a Final water demand study report forwarded to Council.    Complete 
3.1.b Investigation of potential water supply sources completed with recommendations to Council. 
Complete 
3.1.c Final Council decision on whether water meters should be installed throughout the community, and 
approval of strategy.    Complete 
3.1.d Inclusion of water source and any potential metering costs in financial plan.   Staff directed to 
conduct additional research and report to Council with data. 

3.2 Finalize Long-Term Community Amenity Strategy. 
3.2.a Council’s final approval of community amenity strategy and amenity list.   On hold pending 
implementation of the Downtown Action Plan. 
3.2.b Adoption of amended community amenity policy and inclusion of approved amenities in financial 
plan.     On hold pending implementation of the Downtown Action Plan. 

 

 
 

4 - Municipal Operations and Partnerships 

4.0 Introduce Performance Management and Reporting System. 
4.0.a Performance management measures established for each department, data collected and presented 
on a quarterly basis.   Complete 
4.0.b Quarterly performance management reports on Council agenda.   Complete 
4.0.c Quarterly RCMP accountability reports received by Council.   Complete 

4.1. Complete Other Priority Operational Projects. 
4.1.a Council approval of revised Cedar Valley Comprehensive Development Plan and formal adoption of 
any applicable policies, bylaws, etc.    Review postponed. 
4.1.b New subdivision control bylaw adopted.    Consultation complete, staff working on report for Council. 
4.1.c Approval of final project management policy and procedures.     Complete 
4.1.d New fee-for-service policy, procedures and agreements in place.    Complete 
4.1.e Regular and timely reporting to the committee and successful hosting of the 2014 BC Winter Games.  
Complete 

4.2 Develop and Implement Partnership Communication. 
4.2.a List of key partnership persons, agencies and organizations forwarded to Council. Complete 
4.2.b Communication strategy to interact with key partners approved and implemented.   Manager of Civic 
Engagement began audit prior to departure. To be addressed in the future. 
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Community Profile 
Mission is located on the north shore of the Fraser River within 
the Fraser Valley Regional District. The population, reported at 
36,425 in the 2011 census, trends young with a media age of 
39.3 compared to the provincial average of 41.9. 

70 kilometres east of Vancouver and 17 kilometres north of the 
United States of America via the Huntingdon/Sumas Border 
crossing, Mission is ideally located as a transportation hub for 
land, air, and water. Mission is surrounded by forests, hills, lakes 
and streams; a paradise for any outdoor enthusiasts. Along with 
superb fishing, two golf courses, 36 parks, dozens of hiking and 
mountain-bike trails, Mission has one of only two municipal 
forests in British Columbia, commonly referred to as Tree Farm 
License 26 (TFL 26). 

Mission is famous for a number of annual events, including the 
Mission Soap Box Derby and the many events that take place in 
Fraser River Heritage Park such as the annual Easter Egg Hunt, 
Old Car Sunday, Canada Day Celebrations, the Twilight Concert 
Series, and the Mission Folk Music Festival. 

Other regular events draw participants from across Mission and 
the region, and include the Mission Farmer’s Market, Mission 
Fest,  the races at the Mission Raceway, Mission Fire/Rescue 
Service Fire Safety Fair and the Downtown Christmas 
Candlelight Parade.    

2014 ended with the Municipal elections taking place in 
November and with the newly elected Council inaugural meeting 
taking place on December 1st, 2014. New for this election is that 
Council’s term is extended from three years to four. 

70 kilometers to Vancouver 

17 kilometers to 
the US Border 

District of  
Mission 
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Milestones 
2014 was a year of significant milestones for the District of Mission. 

Over an action-packed four-day long weekend in February Mission hosted the 2014 BC Winter Games. 461 
medals were handed out to athletes across the province, with the Fraser Valley squad netting top place with 
110 medals. Hundreds of volunteers took part in this fantastic event, and a $60,000 legacy fund will continue to 
support active living and culture in Mission for years to come. 

District employees launched the City Watch Program to help provide for a safer community.  The same day the 
program was launched, a city worker was credited with witnessing an individual breaking and entering into a 
business, contacting the RCMP resulting in the property being recovered!   

The Fraser Health Authority’s new $29.5 million extended health unit, The Residence, was opened in April. This 
new 200 bed unit replaced an older, smaller facility that is located beside the Mission Memorial Hospital.  

The District of Mission received $40,000 worth of grants to develop the Recreational Master Plan of Mission’s 
Interpretive Forest area as well as funding from the provincial government in the amount of $32,500 for the 
design plans for road upgrades. 

Cruising down Stave Lake Street at the Mission Soapbox Derby. Photo credit: Sandee Dupas 



 2014 Annual Report 

Our Progress, Our Community, Our People 

 7  

Proud to Call Mission Home 
District of Mission Council values its property owners, residents, businesses and volunteers.  
Each year volunteers are honoured by many different organizations, as well as the District   
itself. The following are just a few of the many volunteers recognized in 2014. 

2014 Community Service Awards 

Freeman of the City 
Ron Leger 

 
Citizen of the Year Award 

Bob Ingram 

 
Exceptional Accomplishment & 

Leadership Award 
Brian Antonson 

Pam Alexis 

 
Long Term Distinguished         

 Service Award 
Mission Girl Guides  

 
Special Accomplishment Awards 

Siwal Si’wes Advisory Council 
Seniors Centre Task Force  

2014 BC Winter Games Directors       
2014 BC Winter Games Directorate Chairs 

Darlene Poole, Ambassador at Large 

Taylor McPherson, Whistler Chair 

 
 

Lifetime Achievement Award 
Mona Freeman 
Mike Freeman 
Marion Buker 

 

Against the Odds Achievement Award 
Laura Laidlaw 

 
Crime Prevention and Safety Award 

Doug Olund 

 
Crime Prevention and Community 

Safety Award 
Jamie Nokes 

 
Community Service Awards 

Sophie Zehner 
Danny Plecas 

Lou Foster 
John & Linda Fisher 

Jane Donatelli 
Marilynne Davis 

Cycling4Diversity Foundation 

 
Community Service Award (Sports) 

Dan Williams 
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2014 Community Heritage Award 
Sponsored by the Mission Community Heritage Commission 

Daphne Sleigh received the Heritage Award for Education and Promotion.  

Adding to the Mission Legacy 
 

Ray Ward, presented with the French Legion d’Honneur award from the Consul  General of France, as 
part of an ambitious effort by France to present the Legion d’Honneur to all surviving veterans of the D-
Day Invasion.  

 

Mission’s Special Olympics Soccer Squad, for winning Gold at the Special Olympics Canada Summer 
Games.  

 

2014 Sports Hall of Fame Inductees 
2014 BC Winter Games Board and  

2014 BC Winter Games Directorate Chairs 

 Certificates of Recognition 
Presented by the Mission Council 

In recognition and appreciation of their outstanding commitment                                  
and participation in the 2014 BC Winter Games: 

 Tamara Skulstad & Kristofer Unipan - gymnastics 
Adam Holtby, Janie Green & Shivani Bahadur - speed skating 

2014 Women of the Year Award 
Pamela Alexis and  

Eden Donatelli Green 
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Message from the  
Chief Administrative Officer 
 
 
2014 was a year of significant accomplishments and significant change for the District of 
Mission.  

There were a great number of community events, most notably the 2014 BC Winter Games, 
which saw Mission welcome athletes, families, and volunteers from across the province to 
our community for four fantastic days of amateur sport. 

A number of major projects, openings and initiatives happened in 2014. 

 The Residence in Mission opened in April, this $29.5 million extended health unit 
replaces the Dr. Stuart Pavilion located beside the Mission Memorial Hospital. 

 BC Hydro began upgrades to the Ruskin Dam, a project valued at $748 million. 

 Telus invested $2 million to expand 4g and LTE wireless coverage. 

 The Sumas Regional Consortium for High Tech opened in Mission and established a 
technical centre of excellence and a venture accelerator focused on the intersection 
of agriculture and high-tech. 

 District staff launched the city Watch Program, another avenue to assist in our 
citizens’ safety. 

The District was also fortunate to honour Ron Leger as Freeman of the city, and to name 
Bob Ingram Citizen of the Year, along with numerous other worthy volunteers at the 
Community Service Awards event. 

I would like to thank staff for their hard work delivering on the goals and objectives of the 
previous Council and administration, and for their continued diligence in supporting our new 
Council in delivering on their commitments to the citizens of Mission. 

 

        
       
       Glen Robertson 
       Interim Chief Administrative Officer 
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Organizational Chart 

Citizens,  
Businesses & Taxpayers 

Mayor &  
Council 

Chief Administrative 
Officer 

Corporate 
Services 

Fire/Rescue 
Service 

Police  
Services 

Forest  
Enterprise 

Parks,  
Recreation  
& Culture 

Engineering 
&  

Public Works 

Development 
Services 
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Corporate Services 
The Corporate Services Department functions include Corporate Administration, Human Resources, 
Information Technology Services, Civic Engagement and Corporate Initiatives, Finance and Purchasing. 

The Department coordinates and provides leadership for all departments to ensure the District is accomplishing 
Council’s directives, the public’s goals, and Council’s Strategic Plan initiatives. 

corporate administration 

Responsibilities 

   Ensures the District remains committed to achieving social, financial and environmental sustainability while 
aligning the organization to Council’s Strategic Plan initiatives. 

 Provides administration support for Council members, including preparation and safe-keeping of agendas, 
minutes and bylaws for Council, Committee and Commission meetings. 

 Manages and coordinates matters related to land and legal issues. 

 Committed to achieving Council’s directives and to remain focused on the goals put forth to ensure we 
continue to be an organization that inspires excellence and leads by example. 

 Generates efficiencies and continually improves service delivery to our citizens and businesses by 
providing exceptional service and implementing more effective and consistent engagement of our 
community. 

 Processes requests for information under the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act. 
 Monitor the treaty negotiation process to protect local District of Mission interests. 

 

Highlights  

 Administered the 2014 general local election, which saw an increase in voter turnout (33.3%) over the last 
election in 2011 (29.9%). 

 In conjunction with the Information Technology Department, launched a new District-wide records 
management system. 

 Proposed a new Discharge of Firearms Regulation Bylaw that was approved by Council.  This bylaw no 
longer permits discharge of a firearm on Red or Bear Mountains and significantly limits the permitted rifle 
or shotgun use area east of Stave Lake. 

 

human resources   

Human Resources staff provide specialized advice and assistance to all District employees.   Human Resources 
provides expertise for all employees in order to remain a competitive employer and fostering a culture that 
attracts and retains high-calibre staff for the District of Mission. 

Responsibilities 

   Administer the District’s Occupational Health and Safety Program. 

 Oversee employee and labour relations matters. 

 Provide support to employees in regards to compensation and benefits. 
 Develop and manage the corporate training program and manage employee development programs. 

  

Highlights  

 Conducted 46 internal recruitment processes. 

 Managed 31 external recruitment processes, including reviewing 2,582 resumes. 

 Arranged for flu shot clinics to keep our employees healthy during the flu season. 
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Corporate Services 
information technology services  

Information Technology staff provides municipal departments with support and assistance related to the 
computer and telephone systems within the District.  

Responsibilities 

   Coordinate and follow through on short and long-term strategic plans including acquisition of corporate 
computer equipment, IT services and telecommunications equipment/services. 

 Ensure the effective operation of the District's information technology infrastructure. 

 Evaluate and recommend the capabilities of hardware and software applications for the municipality and its 
interaction with the citizens of Mission. 

 Manage and support numerous computer applications including the District’s financial systems, recreation 
programs, online applications and GIS mapping system. 

 Administer and operate the District’s computer and telephone systems. 

 Provide corporate data recovery and security services. 

 Host the District’s website. 
 

Highlights  

   Upgraded the District’s virtual storage infrastructure for optimal performance, redundancy and future 
scalability. 

 Finalized the implementation and training of the District’s Laserfiche electronic records management 
system (ERMS) across the enterprise. 

 Implemented new corporate backup and recovery software/measures. 

 Completed the replacement of offsite, redundant server hardware infrastructure in order to enhance the 
District’s business continuity plan and recovery capability. 

 Deployed Livescan digital fingerprinting at the Mission RCMP detachment in order to expedite criminal 
records checks and provide greater electronic systems intelligence integration. 

 

civic engagement and corporate initiatives 

This office is responsible and accountable for overall communications for the District, and for facilitating better 
engagement between citizens, businesses, and visitors as they connect with the municipality. 

Responsibilities 

  Raise citizen and business awareness and understanding of municipal initiatives, programs and operations. 

 Develop and promote opportunities for public engagement and feedback. 

 Develop, coordinate and implement civic engagement strategies based on the District of Mission’s vision 
and strategic direction. 

 Educating the public and finding new ways to work with and involve the community with the many large, 
long-term programs that the District is involved with. 

 Making sure residents and businesses understand what we do, why we do it and that we understand what 
they really want and need. 

Highlights 

 Published all election-related material supporting increased voter-turnout. 

 Redeveloped official social media channels to improve communications. 

 Implemented online survey platform to improve citizen input in planning and decision making processes. 



 2014 Annual Report 

Our Progress, Our Community, Our People 

 13  

Corporate Services 
Finance 

The Finance Department provides visionary stewardship over the District’s financial resources and supports 
other departments in the provision of quality services to the citizens of Mission.  The Department also oversees 
Purchasing and Stores operations. 

As most issues and decisions within the District have financial implications, the Finance Department is 
intricately involved on a daily basis, with assessing the financial impact of various alternate courses of action and 
with supporting the District’s general decision-making and service delivery processes. 

Responsibilities 

 Short and long-term operational and capital financial planning. 

 Internal and external financial reporting. 

 Property tax rate recommendations. 

 Processing and collection of property taxes. 

 Utility and other receivables billings. 

 Maintenance of property records. 

 Payroll and general accounting. 

 Administration of the District’s investment portfolio. 

 Payment of goods and services including processing of purchasing card (P-Card) transactions. 
 

Highlights 

 Processed almost 18,350 property tax payments/home owner grant applications during the tax season 
(May/June/July). 

 Awarded the GFOA Canadian Award for Financial Reporting for the seventh straight year. 

 Revamped the Industrial/Commercial/Institutional and Residential Utility Billing notices to make it easier to 
read and understand and make the look more consistent with other utility billing notices. 

 Created a comprehensive 2015 budget document to provide incoming Council and the public with 2015 
budget information. 

 Implemented financial plan amending bylaws to ensure legislative compliance. 
 

purchasing  

Purchasing leads all competitive bidding processes, advises departments on procurement issues, and 
maintains the District’s inventory of supplies. 

 Responsibilities 

 Procurement of goods and services and asset disposal. 

 Take lead role where products and services cross departmental boundaries. 

 Operation of central inventory of supplies (Stores). 

 Administration of purchasing card (P-Card) program. 

 Cooperative purchasing initiatives. 
 Verifying and maintaining vendor records and documentation. 
 

Highlights 
 Implemented use of Canadian Construction Documents Committee (CCDC) contracts for engineering 

projects. 
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Economic Development 
The District of Mission Economic Development Office, located in the Mission Chamber of Commerce building, 
was created in July of 2003.  The office oversees and coordinates economic development, tourism services, film 
production, workforce development, property management and land development.  Staff are guided by the 
District of Mission Economic Development Select Committee, an advisory body to Council.  The Committee 
consists of balanced community representation from the commercial, industrial, institutional and retail sectors, 
as well as the Mission Downtown Business Association, the Chamber of Commerce and North Fraser 
Community Futures. 

Responsibilities 

 Business Retention and Expansion (BRE) to encourage growth and stability within the retail, commercial 
and industrial sectors, diversifying the District’s tax base and creating new job opportunities. 

 Act as a liaison between various municipal departments and the business and development community. 

 To establish Mission as a preferred location for business investment. 

 Create community hand-out information such as the Mission Community Profile, site selection information 
and incentive packages. 

 Determine real-time labour demand, to ensure an understanding of current and future  markets. 

 Educate the Lower Mainland real-estate and development companies on investment opportunities within 
Mission. 

 Support tourism marketing, promotion, and attract tourism related infrastructure investment such as 
accommodation, destination and tourism sites, and food and beverage operators. 

 Work with other departments to promote and monitor filming in Mission. 

 Coordinate regional tourism advertising, such as the Scenic 7 Tourism Alliance, which works cooperatively 
to promote attractions along the Lougheed Highway. 

  

Highlights 

 The creation of a Technical Centre of Excellence, offering a facility for technical incubation and education 
for start-up and early stage innovations. 

 Creating an ongoing report structure to determine hiring demand analysis by location, industry, occupation, 
job posting source and duration for Mission and the Fraser Valley. 

 The development of a marketing strategy to attract investment through the Downtown Incentive Package. 

 Working with the Stave West Master Plan Team to shape Stave West as an outdoor adventure playground. 

 Three new videos were produced to highlight tourism, commercial and industrial development potential 
and the Scenic 7. 

 

 

 

 

Follow us  @investmission 
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Parks, Recreation & Culture 
The Parks, Recreation & Culture Department’s goal is to provide safe, welcoming and affordable parks, 
programs, recreational and cultural opportunities in partnership with the community for the enjoyment of 
residents and visitors to Mission. 

The Department achieves this goal through the provision of parks, trails, open space areas as well as safe, clean 
and welcoming recreational facilities and programs. 

Responsibilities 

 Develop, inspect and maintain municipal parks, trails and 
greenbelt areas throughout the community. 

 Operate and manage the Mission Leisure Centre pool and fitness 
areas to provide high quality aquatic programming and fitness 
programs for all ages as well as a variety of drop-in and program 
opportunities for fitness and wellness. 

 Operate and manage the Mission Leisure Centre arenas to ensure 
high quality ice for minor and adult hockey associations including 
the Mission Outlaws, as well as dry floor opportunities for lacrosse 
and ball hockey. 

 Provide a variety of drop-in and registered programs for children, 
teens and seniors. 

 Manage and maintain the District’s skateboard park, spray park 
and youth lounge at the Mission Leisure Centre. 

 Operate the Mission Activity Centre in partnership with the 
Mission Seniors Association. 

   

Highlights 

 The District of Mission hosted the 2014 BC Winter Games that 
included 18 different sports across 12 locations.  The Games were 
led by a Board of 25 dedicated volunteer directors and supported 
by thousands of enthusiastic volunteers. 

 The Mission Leisure Centre hosted hockey, curling and figure 
skating during the Games as well as acting as the event hub. 

 Leisure Centre upgrades in 2014 included:  replacing the skylights 
over the main lobby, installing new automatic doors and 
completion of a number of energy conservation measures. 

 Development of a Cemetery Business Plan. 

 A partnership with the Fraser Valley Disc Golf Club allowed the 
development of a new disc golf course in Centennial Park.  

 The Parks, Recreation & Culture Department participated in the development of the Stave West 
Master Plan and the Senior’s Centre Task Force. 

 A partnership with the Mission Minor Sports Organization has resulted in the formation of the first Mission 
Sports Council. 

 The roof of the bandstand at the Fraser River Heritage park was replaced to ensure the shelter continues to 
be available to special events and weddings. 

 The Department initiated or participated in a number of well attended community special events including: 
Winter Wonderland and the Festival of Trees, Canada Day celebrations, Mission Possible, Youthfest, and 
the Community Health Fair. 

 

Tailwhip at the Skate Park. Photo credit: Phil 
Capadouca  
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Parks, Recreation & Culture 
social development  

Social Development in Mission encompasses a Manager, a volunteer based Social Development Commission, 
volunteer working groups and related projects and events.  The mandate of the Social Development Commission 
is to contribute to the realization of the District of Mission’s vision by facilitating the implementation of the Social 
Development Plan.  In 2006, Council prioritized the creation of a Social Development Plan for Mission.  This 
decision was in part, a response to social concerns in our community.  Community forums were held identifying 
community priorities resulting in the first Social Development Plan.  In January 2009, the Social Development 
Program switched gears from working with the community in the creation of a plan to working with the 
community to implement the plan.  A living document, the Social Development Plan has broadened over time to 
incorporate new groups, projects and events evolving with need and community will.  

  

Responsibilities 

  Support Mission citizens in their efforts to get involved in community projects related to social health. 

 Partner with community agencies to explore community challenges and collaborate towards innovative 
community-based solutions. 

 Work toward recognizing barriers in the community and increase communication where needed. 

 Act as an educational and awareness resource on the importance of social health to community 
development and growth. 

 Liaison between the community and the municipality in topics related to social development and 
community health. 

 Coordinate community projects through facilitating multi-agency involvement including organizing Mission 
Connect Events for disengaged or vulnerable citizens. 

 Provide mentorship and leadership opportunities to students and youth interested in gaining experience in 
municipal community development. 

 

Highlights 

 Approximately $30,000 worth of grants were received to help support the Mission Possible summer 
program for disconnected youth in our community. 

 Coordinated Connect Events (April & October 2014) drawing 300+people and 100  volunteers in total. 

 $20,000 received from a Plan H grant to hire a Youth-Adult Partnership Facilitator to engage a group of 
youth to coordinate a youth led service provider’s workshop series (Oct 2014) – “Pulling Together 2014”. 

 Launched the Stone Soup Homelessness initiative (Fall 2014) utilizing a community based action research 
approach incorporating lived experience of homeless individuals. 

 Partner with the new Mission Youth House (My House) for all youth with a focus on disconnected/
disengaged youth offering a youth health clinic, showers, laundry, food and social service/healthy adult 
mentors to connect youth to needed services. 

 Led a Youth Wellness Group for youth disengaged due to mental health challenges. 
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Development Services 
The Development Services Department provides services designed to shape future development by ensuring 
orderly and safe growth within the District.  The Department is comprised of four divisions: 

building and business licensing  

The Building Division is responsible for ensuring all construction within the District complies with the BC Building 
Code, the District’s building and zoning bylaws, and other related regulations.  

Responsibilities 

 Issue business licenses, and building and sign permits. 
 Monitor compliance with building permits. 

 

Highlights 

 Inter-municipal business licenses passed one-year trial period. 

 Initiated digitization process of building permit files for improved access for the public. 

 Worked towards incorporating building permit application process into the District’s software system. 
 Participated on provincial Building Code and Building Inspector Training Task Force. 

 

 

 

bylaw enforcement and animal control  

The Bylaw Enforcement Division is responsible for administering and enforcing regulatory bylaws within the 
District in a fair and effective manner.  

Responsibilities 

 Receive and handle bylaw complaints to gain compliance with municipal bylaws. 

 Oversee Mission animal control services. 

 Identify secondary residential suites for utility billing purposes. 
 Enforce parking restrictions in the downtown core and throughout the District as needed. 
 

 Highlights 

  Full implementation of Integrated Services Team which has allowed an improved response to problem 
properties. 

 Better integration with social service organizations and initiatives to assist with homeless situation. 

 

 

 

 

 



18   2014 Annual Report 

Our Progress, Our Community, Our People 

Development Services 
long-range and development planning  

As the District of Mission grows and changes, the Planning Division supports and oversees the functions of 
community wide land-use planning and site specific development planning.  The Planning Division is primarily 
responsible for managing growth and development through the administration of applicable land use bylaws and 
policies adopted by Council. 

Responsibilities 

 Review and process land development applications. 

 Make professional recommendations to Council on specific development proposals. 

 Initiate short and long-range land use plans for key areas including the waterfront and downtown. 

 Implement and update planning/development policies. 

 Consider population growth trends and community needs as part of land use planning. 
 Administer the municipality’s official community plan and zoning bylaws. 
 

Highlights  

 The Industrial General Zone was amended to include barge loading as a permitted use. 

 Official Community Plan review initiated. 

 Adoption of Downtown Tax Exemption and Incentive Program. 

 Advanced phasing in Cedar Valley to promote greater development of multi-family homes. 

 Improved information to developers at pre-application stage. 
 

 

 

transit services 

Development Services manages transit planning within the municipality. 

Responsibilities 

 Work in partnership with BC Transit and City of Abbotsford to provide transit services in Abbotsford and 
Mission. 

 Plan for transit enhancements and expansions in Mission. 

 Work with TransLink to oversee West Coast Express Train and Train Bus services to and from Vancouver. 
 

Highlights  
  A $30,000 bus stop/pull-out/shelter project, funded by the Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure, 

was completed on the north side of the Lougheed Highway near the Haig Street intersection, to enhance 
transit service to the Mission Hills Mall. 

 Transit Efficiency study completed with operational changes scheduled for 2015. 
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Engineering and Public Works 
 engineering 
The Engineering Division provides service to the community in the areas of: infrastructure planning, design, and 
maintenance; Environmental Services; solid waste management; development application review; project 
management, construction and contract administration; soil removal, traffic engineering and Asset Management. 
Service is provided in a manner that conforms with the guidelines and policies established by Council and is 
consistent with the funding levels established in the District’s long-term financial plan. 

Responsibilities 

 Design infrastructure and manage studies and construction projects. 

 Plan for municipal infrastructure. 

 Maintain municipally owned buildings and grounds. 

 Ensure compliance of Subdivision Control Bylaw through development review process. 

 Plan traffic patterns and control. 

 Oversee the digital computer based mapping and geographic information system (GIS). 
 

Highlights 

 Introduced a “My Waste” app  to provide an easy reference to all Mission’s municipal waste collection 
services. 

 Hired a new Director of Engineering and Public Works in August. 

 Department restructure and focus on filling vacancies. 

 New roof at Municipal Hall. 

 RCMP cell retrofit project. 

 10 subdivision projects completed at servicing phase for 85 new lots. 

 130 final access inspections completed. 

 35 Traffic Management Plans and 9 Extraordinary Traffic Permits issued. 
 

asset management  
Asset Management is responsible for a District-wide condition assessment of surface and sub-surface assets to 
forecast and schedule appropriate rehabilitation and reconstruction activities. 

This section monitors current levels of service, life cycle trends and deterioration models to protect the District’s 
infrastructure investments by planning and developing a short and long-range capital budget. 

The asset management approach includes the analysis of current and projected asset conditions and 
incorporates the economic assessment of trade-offs among alternative investment options, using all of the 
information to help make cost-effective investment decisions. 

Responsibilities 

	 Pavement management. 

 Condition assessments on: water distribution, wastewater collection, and storm sewer systems. 

 Fleet management. 

 Data collection and input from the field, which includes Facilities, Public Works, Parks and the Fleet. 

 Provide cost-effective solutions for asset replacement costs, life cycle analysis and funding requirements. 

Highlights 
	 An RFP was issued on December 19, 2014 for the development of an integrated Corporate Asset 

Management System to be conducted in two phases: 

Phase One - development of a strategic framework for asset management. 

Phase Two - implement framework, including asset management software deployment. 
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Engineering and Public Works 
environmental services 

Environmental Services administers the District’s waste management and diversion system, heads up the 
District’s invasive plant management program and provides support to community stewardship initiatives, as per 
the District’s Environmental Charter. 

Responsibilities 
 

Solid Waste Management  
 Oversee the curbside collection contract for garbage, recyclables and compost. 
 Manage the Mission Landfill, including ensuring environmental compliance, public safety and promoting 

waste diversion. 
 Coordinate special events, such as the Annual Household Hazardous Waste Day and Compost Giveaway. 

 

Environmental Stewardship Outreach 

 Support community stewardship groups in their efforts. 
 Collaborate with community litter abatement groups, such as Adopt-A-Block, as well as individuals. 
 Initiate an inventory of invasive plant locations and coordinate targeted control initiatives. 
 Promote environmental awareness and waste diversion via brochures, the website and the curbside 

collection calendar. 
  

Highlights 

new 10,000 sq. ft. pre-engineered fabric covered compost facility constructed at the Mission Landfill, 
which includes a rain-water collection system with 10,000 gallon storage tanks, and a compost aeration and 
leachate collection system.  

 420 residents participated in the Third Annual Compost Giveaway event at the Landfill, with 227 tonnes of 
compost given away.  

 Initiated treatment of 88 knotweed sites throughout the community. 
 5.7 tonnes of household hazardous waste collected during the Annual Household Hazardous Waste Day. 

 
public works 

The Public Works Division provides a level of service to the community that ensures a reliable and efficient 
network of safe roads and pedestrian ways, a network of effective drainage and diking systems, operations and 
maintenance of the water and sanitary sewer utilities, an effective emergency and operations radio 
communications system, a responsive emergency preparedness plan, environmentally responsible and efficient 
gravel pit operations, and a reliable and cost effective equipment fleet. 
 

Responsibilities 

 Oversee the road and drainage maintenance 
programs. 

 Ensure reliable water distribution and sanitary 
sewer collection. 

 Maintain environmental protection for all 
municipal infrastructure  and construction, 
including: 
 Storm water conveyance and control; 
 Street lighting, signs, and intersection signals; 
 Pavement management and line markings; 
 Road side mowing; 
 Snow removal. 

 

  

Highlights 
 New asphalt on Dewdney Trunk Road and Richards 

Avenue. 
 112,800 square metres of asphalt rehabilitated. 
 25 kilometres of water main swabbed (cleaned). 
 5 kilometres of sewer mainline tv inspected. 
 25 metres of sidewalk installed. 
 District work crews launch City Watch Program for 

a safer Mission. 
 Watermain Replacement Program – 1,250 meters of 

new ductile iron watermain with services to 
property line. 

 Trenchless repairs to our Storm and Sanitary mains, 
this includes CCTV inspections, mainline relining, 
and segmental point repairs. 



 2014 Annual Report 

Our Progress, Our Community, Our People 

 21  

Mission Fire/Rescue Service 

The Mission Fire/Rescue Service operates out of three fire stations located strategically throughout the District, 
each having a full complement of modern, up to date vehicles and equipment.  
 Fire Station No.1 on Seventh Avenue is the headquarters, providing administrative and logistical support for all 
stations with a Fire Chief, two Assistant Fire Chiefs, a Fire Prevention Officer, two part-time Administrative Clerks, 
eight full-time career fire fighters, and 40 paid on-call fire fighters. Fire Stations No. 2 and No. 3 are completely 
staffed by paid on-call fire fighters. 

The goal of the Mission Fire/Rescue Service is to provide the citizens of Mission with realistic and effective fire 
service.  As well as providing a variety of fire and safety related services to the public, including emergency and 
non-emergency responses to fires, fire alarms, motor vehicle accidents, medical emergencies, etc. the Fire/
Rescue Service also provides community services such as child car seat inspections, Smoke Alarm Campaign 
and Fire Prevention Week activities. 
  
    

Responsibilities 
  Emergency response to fire, motor vehicle accidents, hazardous materials, medical emergencies, alarms, 

and public assists. 

 Offer public education programs, varying from lectures on fire safety to fire extinguisher training for 
industry. 

 Perform regular fire safety inspections to ensure compliance with the Fire Services Act and the B.C. Fire 
Code. 

 Provide pre-fire plans of residential, industrial and commercial buildings which will allow quicker and 
efficient access into all occupancies within the community during an emergency. 

 Emergency Preparedness Programs and operation of the Emergency Operation Centre. 
 

 

Highlights 
  Assistant Chief Succession Planning. 

 Held a youth Fire Academy of seven high school students who completed a 100 hour training course. 

 Development of an Honour Guard – who won a Community Service Award. 

 Held a successful Big Brothers and Sisters Camp at Fire Station No. 1 in July. 

 Engine 54 (our antique engine) received the “Dad’s Choice” Award at the 23rd Old Car Sunday Car Show 
on Father’s Day. 

 Paid on-call Fire Fighter Retirements: 
District Chief Doug Olund - 44 years of service 
District Chief Ben Madsen – 18 years of service 
Captain Dean Heriot – 28 years of service 

Captain Jim Armstrong – 21 years of service 

 

 
 

Mission Statement 

To provide service to the community by protecting life, property and  environment, 
through prevention, public education and emergency response, with well 
maintained equipment and highly trained and dedicated personnel. 
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Mission Detachment provides police services to the citizens of Mission within the areas of General Duty, General 
Investigations, Street Crimes, Community Policing and Traffic Services.  The District of Mission’s contract with 
the RCMP includes supplemental support from integrated units such as Police Dog Services, Air Services, 
Forensic Identification, the Emergency Response Team and the Integrated Homicide Investigation Team. 

Twenty-four District of Mission municipal employees support police operations, under the direction of the 
Manager, RCMP Administration, in the areas of Crime Prevention, Property Control, Records Management, 
Cellblock Operations, Fleet Services, Court Liaison, Transcription, Front Counter Operations and Administrative 
Support. 

Mission Detachment has a complement of  91 volunteers within Victim Services, Crime Prevention and the 
Auxiliary Constable Programs.  These proud volunteers work thousands of hours within their Program areas, all 
in support of the residents of Mission. 

 Responsibilities 

	 Provide key services and programs in general duty policing. 

 Community response. 

 Street crime policing. 

 General investigations and traffic enforcement. 

 Crime prevention and crime analysis. 

 Victim services and administrative support to police operations. 
 

Highlights 
  After 35 years of service, Inspector Richard Konarski retired from the RCMP.  We wish 

Richard all the best. 

 Mission RCMP Detachment welcomes Inspector Ted De Jager as the new Officer in 
Charge at the Mission RCMP Detachment.  Welcome Ted! 

 Mission RCMP provided security for more than 1,000 young athletes during the BC 
Winter Games. 

 City Watch was launched in Mission.  City Watch provides District of Mission 
employees an opportunity to report suspicious activity they encounter while 
conducting their regular duties. 

 Victim Services Coordinator Gina Albanese, joined forces with the Emergency 
Support Services of the District of Mission to provide assistance to victims in emergency situations.  Gina 
currently has a team of 52 volunteers trained to deal with all types of emergencies. 

 Overtime initiatives were established to increase patrols 
in the downtown and Stave 
Lake areas. 

 
 

Mission Detachment 

Inspector Konarski 

Inspector De Jager 

P. Faoro from CUPE BC, V. Barron, 
Crime Prevention Coordinator and  
D. Lakes, President of CUPE Local 
1267. Staff photo  

EOC Volunteers with Insp. De Jager & Fire Chief 
Watkinson. Staff photo  
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Mission Forest Enterprise 

 

 
The Forestry Enterprise has managed the Mission Tree Farm Licence #26 (TFL 26), also known as the Municipal 
Forest, since 1958.   
The Forest is managed on a sustained harvest basis, with an annual allowable cut of about 45,000 cubic metres 
per year, averaged over five years.  Management activities recognize many values in the forest including timber, 
wildlife, water, soils, fish, landscape aesthetics, recreation, education and biodiversity.  Forestry programs include 
harvesting, tree planting, plantation brushing, tree spacing, road construction, forest fire prevention and trail 
maintenance. 

Responsibilities 

 The Forestry Enterprise’s main role is to perform all the associated functions of managing Mission TFL 26 
within the legislated requirements of the Forest and Range Practices Act of BC. 

 Minor functions include providing advice or services to other departments regarding tree issues around the 
municipality. 

 

Highlights 
 The provincial government provided $42,500 for the design plans for road upgrades and $40,000 for the 

development of the District’s Recreational Master Plan for the Mission Interpretive Forest. 

 Stave West Master Plan, hosted public open houses in June and November. 

Hosted a tour of Stave West for Minister Shirley Bond with representation from Kwantlen First Nation. 

Dedicated a recreation trail in memory and honour of Roy Kittles, who was a local forestry specialist with over 
40 years of experience.  Roy was very passionate about the “Tree Farm” and he contributed his knowledge and 
experience on various silverculture and harvesting projects throughout the Municipal Forest.  Sadly, Roy 
passed away on January 21, 2013. 

 Staff from both Public Works and Forestry developed a flat deck trailer with a removable winch, allowing for 
more efficient operation. 

  

Mission Statement 
Mission’s Municipal Forest is a community forest operating under the highest possible 
standards. The Mission Municipal Forest exists for the people of Mission, by creating a 
sustainable balance of various economic, social, scientific and environmental forest values as 
well as providing memorable forest experiences to Mission residents and its visitors. 

Stave West Master Plan Planning Team members visiting Sayres Lake Campground with Minister Shirley Bond, MLA Simon 
Gibson, and MLA Marc Dalton. 
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Overview 

Strolling the slough in the fall. Photo credit: Alexandra Fontaine. 
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Report from the Manager of Finance 

June 1, 2015 

 
I am pleased to present the District of Mission’s audited 2014 consolidated financial statements. The 
consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of management, and have been prepared by 
District staff pursuant to Section 167 of the Community Charter.  Management’s responsibilities also    
include maintaining a system of internal controls for financial statement reliability purposes and to ensure 
the protection of the District’s assets. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
Canadian public sector accounting standards.   

 
The District’s independent external auditors, BDO Canada LLP, have audited the District’s financial 
statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. As expressed in their 
audit report, in their opinion the District’s consolidated financial statements present fairly in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of the District of Mission as at December 31, 2014, and the 
consolidated results of operations, changes in net financial assets, and cash flows for the year then ended, 
in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. 

 

The District of Mission Development Corporation’s financial position and operating results for the year are 
included in the consolidated financial statements.  Separate financial statements for the Development 
Corporation are also included in this annual report.  In accordance with the direction given by District 
Council, the Development Corporation ceased its operations during the year, resulting in its accumulated 
surplus being transferred to the District.  

 

Consolidated Financial Position and Results 

At the end of 2014, the District had net financial assets of $43.3 million, based on the difference        
between its financial assets ($72.7 million) and its liabilities ($29.4 million). This compares to net        
financial assets of $29.5 million at the end of 2013. The District also had non-financial assets of $431.4 
million, which for the most part consisted of the amortized historical cost of tangible capital assets. The 
District’s net financial assets and non-financial assets together account for the $474.7 million               
accumulated surplus as at December 31, 2014.  Details of the composition of accumulated surplus, with 
comparable figures for the prior year, are shown below. 

Unrestricted surplus decreased by about $0.5 million, and reserve funds increased by about $7.5 million 
during 2014.  The decrease in unrestricted surplus was primarily related to the use of approximately $1.5 
million of unrestricted surplus funds towards the early retirement of long-term debt, which was partially 
offset by the current year’s general fund operating surplus of approximately $1.2 million.  The increase in 
reserve funds was for the most part attributable to a change in accounting treatment for the approximately 
$6.6 million of Community Works funds on hand, as a result of changes to the stipulations in the renewed 
Community Works  Fund Agreement that was entered into during the year. 

  
2014 Accumulated 

Surplus 
2013 Accumulated 

Surplus 
Increase 

(Decrease) 

Unrestricted surplus $ 7,557,504 $ 8,079,528 $ (522,024) 

Reserve funds 43,388,316 35,936,611 7,451,705 

Investment in tangible capital assets 423,768,524 412,272,319 11,496,205 

Total accumulated surplus $ 474,714,344 $ 456,288,458 $ 18,425,886 
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The District had consolidated revenues of $73.4 million and consolidated expenses of $55.0 million in 
2014, which resulted in an annual surplus of $18.4 million. A break-down of 2014 consolidated revenues 
and expenses is shown in the charts below. 
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Long-Term Debt 

The District had approximately $6.8 million of outstanding long-term debt at the end of 2014 ($13.8 
million at the end of 2013).  The outstanding long-term debt is related to borrowing for the Fire Hall and 
Leisure Centre facilities construction, and the water and sewer utilities no longer have any long-term 
debt outstanding.  The District has been making steady progress at paying down external debt in recent 
years, by using monies accumulated in reserve funds to take advantage of a number of early debt 
retirement opportunities. 

Internal Debt 

At the end of 2014, the District had approximately $4.5 million of outstanding internal debt ($5.2 million at 
the end of 2013). Internal debt occurs when one of the District’s reserve funds borrows from another of 
the District’s reserve funds. The majority of the District’s outstanding internal debt was incurred to fund 
growth-related projects, which are ultimately to be funded from future development cost charge  (DCC) 
collections.  In other words, general reserves have prepaid certain projects that were needed to support 
growth, as insufficient DCC funds were collected prior to having to construct the projects.  As DCCs are 
collected from future developments, the internal loans are repaid. The District’s internal borrowing 
capacity is dependent upon its reserve balances, and future projects planned to be funded by those 
reserves.  From the District’s perspective, internal borrowing offers certain advantages over long-term 
debt, because there is greater flexibility in the length of the payback period and timing of repayment, and 
the interest cost is kept within the organization; however, a disciplined and structured payback plan 
should be adhered to.    

Financial Indicators 

The District tracks certain financial indicators, which provide some insight into financial sustainability, 
flexibility and vulnerability.  Over time, these indicators are helpful as they can illustrate certain trends 
that are occurring.  

 Sustainability indicators provide a general indication of the District’s financial position. The    
District is experiencing a positive trend in terms of financial sustainability, and the indicators show 
there are sufficient assets available to discharge liabilities. 

 Flexibility indicators provide a general indication of the District’s reliance on debt financing.   
Flexibility has remained fairly stable in recent years, and the indicator shows that a relatively small  
portion of total revenues are committed to debt servicing costs. The increases in 2013 and 2014 are 
both the result of one-time payments for early debt retirement, therefore are considered abnormal 
and not reoccurring; in fact, all things being equal, the early debt retirements undertaken in 2013 and 
2014 will reduce future debt servicing costs. 

 Vulnerability indicators provide a general indication of the District’s reliance on transfers from  
senior levels of government. The District appears more reliant upon government transfers in 2014 
than in recent years; however, this is due primarily to a change in accounting treatment for 
Community Works funds on hand. 

FINANCIAL INDICATORS  2010  2011  2012  2013  2014 

               

Sustainability indicators:               
Total assets to total liabili es  11.09  11.16  11.43  11.56  17.13 

Financial assets to total liabili es  1.29  1.33  1.49  1.68  2.47 

                

Flexibility indicators:                

Total debt servicing costs to total revenues  0.03  0.05  0.04  0.05  0.11 

                

Vulnerability indicators:                

Total government transfers to total revenues  0.09  0.08  0.03  0.06  0.13 
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Looking Forward  

Looking forward, the District of Mission is dedicated to improving its financial position even further in the 
future by: 

 Diversifying the property tax base and increasing other sources of revenue, in order to reduce 
reliance on residential property taxes; 

 Continuing to build reserve balances, and thus internal financing capacity, by incrementally 
increasing annual transfers to reserves; 

 Gaining a better understanding of the life-cycle costs of infrastructure through the development 
of a comprehensive asset management program; 

 Minimizing the use of external debt; and,  

 Maximizing the repayment of internal debt, to the extent possible. 

How we deal with continuing challenges around building and paying for growth related infrastructure 
(including regional water and sewer projects), how successful we are at expanding our revenue sources 
in order to become less reliant on property taxes, and how successful we are at diversifying our tax base 
with greater business and industrial components, will in part determine how we progress towards greater 
financial sustainability. The District continues to be accountable for its spending, and aims to preserve 
community infrastructure while balancing the economic conditions of the community.   

In conclusion, the District of Mission maintains a strong financial position, and is well positioned to deliver 
the municipal services residents and businesses have come to expect.  I look forward to working with 
Council to implement their vision in the coming years, and I thank all District staff for their efforts in 
achieving our positive financial results.  The professionalism and commitment to excellence shown by 
staff each day is the foundation for our success.  

 
 

 

 

Kris Boland,  CPA, CGA 
Manager of Finance 

 



BDO Canada LLP, a Canadian limited liability partnership, is a member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee, and 
forms part of the international BDO network of independent member firms. 

 

Tel:   604 688 5421 
Fax:  604 688 5132 
vancouver@bdo.ca 
www.bdo.ca 

BDO Canada LLP 
600 Cathedral Place 
925 West Georgia Street 
Vancouver BC   V6C 3L2   Canada 
 
 

  

 Independent Auditor’s Report 
 

 
To the Mayor and Council of the District of Mission 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the District of Mission, which 
comprise the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at December 31, 2014, and the Consolidated 
Statements of Operations and Accumulated Surplus, Changes in Net Financial Assets and Cash Flows for the 
year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor's Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards 
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the 
entity's preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly in all material respects, the consolidated 
financial position of the District of Mission as at December 31, 2014, and the results of its consolidated 
results of operations, changes in net financial assets, and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 
with Canadian public sector accounting standards. 

 
Chartered Accountants 

Vancouver, British Columbia 
May 4, 2015 
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District of Mission
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

as at December 31, 2014

2014 2013

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 2) $ 31,661,753 $ 34,701,227

Receivables (Note 3) 6,534,469 7,955,396

Inventories held for resale 271,764 234,754

Investments (Note 4) 34,304,426 29,789,875

72,772,412 72,681,252

Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 6) 10,005,353 11,538,929

Deposits 2,266,282 1,888,145

Long-term debt (Note 7, Schedule 3) 6,768,137 13,772,222

Deferred revenue 3,974,715 4,073,949

Restricted revenue (Note 8) 5,044,746 10,656,061

Employee future benefits (Note 9) 1,370,820 1,286,952

29,430,053 43,216,258

Net Financial Assets 43,342,359 29,464,994

Non-Financial Assets

Tangible capital assets (Schedule 1) 430,536,661 426,044,541

Inventories of supplies and land 669,533 630,054

Prepaid expenses 165,791 148,869

431,371,985 426,823,464

Accumulated Surplus  (Note 11) $ 474,714,344 $ 456,288,458

Kris Boland CPA, CGA Randy Hawes
Manager of Finance Mayor

The accompanying notes and schedules are an integral part of these financial statements.
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District of Mission
Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus

for the year ended December 31, 2014

Budget 2014 2013

Revenues

Taxation (Note 12) $ 27,980,020 $ 28,069,283 $ 27,578,938

Sales of services and regulatory fees 25,463,839 26,413,396 25,541,436

Government transfers (Note 13) 1,563,190 9,339,813 3,821,395

Amortization of restricted revenue (Note 8) 485,569 1,009,311 2,237,002

Investment income 892,191 1,320,106 855,635

Other revenue 1,667,586 2,068,560 1,819,906

Developer contributions in-kind related to capital 3,543,070 3,719,586 3,184,347

Gain/(loss) on disposal of tangible capital assets 3,965 1,527,274 (995,632)

Total Revenues 61,599,430 73,467,329 64,043,027

Expenses

Administration and finance 4,071,856 4,271,812 4,203,501

General government and fiscal services 959,455 1,250,294 1,117,682

Protective services 14,216,817 13,129,857 13,188,918

Engineering and public works 7,793,324 7,524,683 7,171,049

Transit services 2,722,635 2,746,178 2,465,741

Waste management 4,467,115 4,214,266 4,507,088

Development services 2,194,569 2,011,276 2,082,628

Parks, recreation and cultural services 6,384,406 6,674,385 6,483,489

Library 1,360,637 1,368,089 1,351,476

Cemetery 244,652 256,658 250,312

Water utility 4,013,569 3,850,774 4,241,014

Sewer utility 3,688,810 3,578,191 3,578,302

Forestry enterprise 3,868,201 4,142,343 3,326,097

Development Corporation 24,375 22,637 35,165

Total Expenses 56,010,421 55,041,443 54,002,462

Annual Surplus 5,589,009 18,425,886 10,040,565

Accumulated Surplus, Beginning of Year 456,288,458 456,288,458 446,247,893

Accumulated Surplus, End of Year $ 461,877,467 $ 474,714,344 $ 456,288,458

The accompanying notes and schedules are an integral part of these financial statements.
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District of Mission
Consolidated Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets

For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

Budget 2014 2013

Annual Surplus $ 5,589,009 $ 18,425,886 $ 10,040,565

Acquisition of tangible capital assets, including developer
contributions in-kind (5,271,582) (13,030,685) (10,503,387)

Amortization of tangible capital assets 8,400,152 8,046,287 7,936,834

(Gain)/loss on disposal of tangible capital assets - (1,527,274) 995,632

Net sale proceeds - TCA disposals 3,965 2,019,552 63,680

8,721,544 13,933,766 8,533,324

Change in inventories of supplies and land - (39,479) 15,200

Change in prepaid expenses - (16,922) 17,360

- (56,401) 32,560

Increase in Net Financial Assets 8,721,544 13,877,365 8,565,884

Net Financial Assets, Beginning of Year 29,464,994 29,464,994 20,899,110

Net Financial Assets, End of Year $ 38,186,538 $ 43,342,359 $ 29,464,994

The accompanying notes and schedules are an integral part of these financial statements.
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District of Mission
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

2014 2013

Cash Flows from Operating Transactions

Annual surplus $ 18,425,886 $ 10,040,565

Items Not Involving Cash

Amortization of tangible capital assets 8,046,287 7,936,834

Amortization of restricted revenue (1,009,311) (2,237,002)

(Gain) / Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets (1,527,274) 995,632

Developer contributions in-kind related to capital (3,719,586) (3,184,347)

Change in employee future benefits 83,868 (85,102)

Change in Non-Cash Operating Items

Receivables 1,420,927 (1,048,276)

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (1,533,576) 1,447,414

Deposits 378,137 (54,400)

Deferred revenue (99,234) 142,970

Inventories held for resale (37,010) (48,583)

Inventories of supplies and land (39,479) 15,200

Prepaid expenses (16,922) 17,360

Net Change in Cash from Operating Transactions 20,372,713 13,938,265

Cash Flows from Investing Transactions

Change in investments (4,514,551) 3,674,200

Cash Flows from Financing Transactions

Long-term debt principal repaid (7,004,085) (2,440,946)

Restricted revenue collections and interest earnings (4,602,004) 3,677,891

Net Change in Cash from Financing Transactions (11,606,089) 1,236,945

Cash Flows from Capital Transactions

Proceeds from sale of tangible capital assets 2,019,552 63,681

Cash used to acquire tangible capital assets (9,311,099) (7,319,040)

Net Change in Cash from Capital Transactions (7,291,547) (7,255,359)

Net Change in Cash (3,039,474) 11,594,051

Cash, Beginning of Year 34,701,227 23,107,176

Cash, End of Year $ 31,661,753 $ 34,701,227

The accompanying notes and schedules are an integral part of these financial statements.

Financial Overview

33        2014 Annual Report



District of Mission
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

The notes and schedules to the consolidated financial statements are an integral part of the statements.  They
provide detailed information and explain the significant accounting and reporting principles that form the basis for
the statements. The notes and schedules also provide important supplementary information and explanations,
which cannot be conveniently integrated into the consolidated financial statements.

The principal activities of the District of Mission (the District) include the provision of local government services to
residents and businesses. The Community Charter of British Columbia requires local governments to adopt a five
year financial plan, wherein total budgeted expenditures and transfers to other funds for each year must not exceed
the total of the budgeted funding sources and transfers from other funds for each year. Budget information
presented in the consolidated financial statements reflects the budget for the year 2014 of the District of Mission’s
2014-2018 five year financial plan adopted by Council Bylaw #5392-2013.

1. Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements of the District are prepared in accordance with Canadian public
sector accounting standards established by the Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB) of the Chartered
Professional Accountants Canada. The consolidated financial statements reflect the combined results
and activities of the District and its wholly owned subsidiary, the District of Mission Development
Corporation. All inter-fund and inter-company balances and transactions have been eliminated. The
District of Mission Development Corporation was wound up during 2014, resulting in all assets and
liabilities being transferred to the District of Mission. 

The District has a Cemetery Perpetual Care Trust Fund (Trust Fund) that has been established pursuant
to the Cremation, Interment and Funeral Services Act (the Act). This Trust Fund provides funds that will
be used for the eventual closure and upkeep of the cemetery. Interest earnings on the Trust Fund
balance are transferred to general operations and are used for ongoing cemetery maintenance in
accordance with the Act. The Trust Fund is excluded from the District’s consolidated financial
statements, in accordance with PSAB standards (Note 16).

(b) Basis of Accounting

The consolidated financial statements are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting. The accrual
basis of accounting records revenue as it is earned and becomes measurable. Expenses are recognized
as they are incurred and become measurable based upon receipt of goods or services and/or the
creation of a legal obligation to pay. 

(c) Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian public sector accounting standards
established by PSAB requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of certain receivables and accrued liabilities as at the date of the financial statements, and that
affect the reported amount of related revenues and expenses during the reporting period. As such,
actual results could differ from the estimates. Areas requiring the greatest degree of estimation include
employee future benefits, assessment of contingent liabilities, landfill closure and post-closure liabilities,
allowance for doubtful accounts receivable, and the estimated useful lives of tangible capital assets. 

(d) Inventories Held for Resale

Inventories held for resale are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value.    
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District of Mission
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

1. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(e) Investments

Investments are recorded at cost. Investments are written down to net realizable value when there has
been, in the opinion of management, a decline in market value that is not temporary. Investments in the
Municipal Finance Authority (MFA) of British Columbia Short-Term Bond Fund are recorded at market
value, which approximates cost. 

(f) Non-Financial Assets

Non-financial assets are not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held for use in the provision
of services. They have useful lives extending beyond the current year (with the exception of prepaid
expenses), and are not intended for sale in the ordinary course of operations. 

(g) Tangible Capital Assets

Tangible capital assets, which are a type of non-financial asset, are recorded at cost, which includes all
amounts that are directly attributable to acquisition, construction, development or betterment. The costs
of tangible capital assets, less residual value, are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives as follows:

Asset Category Useful Life Range

Buildings and improvements 5 to 50 years

Drainage infrastructure 20 to 100 years

Information technology infrastructure 3 to 80 years

Land not amortized

Land improvements 35 to 50 years

Landfill infrastructure 10 to 50 years

Parks infrastructure 10 to 40 years

Recycling depot (regional) 7 to 20 years

Sewage conveyance infrastructure (local) 25 to 100 years

Sewage treatment plant (regional)  5 to 100 years

Transportation infrastructure 10 to 80 years

Vehicles and equipment 5 to 20 years

Water distribution infrastructure (local) 10 to 100 years

Water supply infrastructure (regional)  4 to 75 years

In the year of acquisition or disposal, amortization is prorated based on the number of days that the
tangible capital asset is in service or use in the year. Assets under construction are not amortized until
they are put into service. Tangible capital assets received from developers through property development
activities are recorded at their fair value at the date of receipt and are recorded as revenue.
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District of Mission
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

1. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(h) Inventories of Supplies and Land

Inventories of supplies and land are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value.

(i) Deferred Revenue

Certain contributions, and other amounts are received from third parties pursuant to legislation,
regulation or agreement. These amounts may only be used to conduct certain programs, complete
specific work, or to purchase tangible capital assets, as specified by the transferring party. In addition,
certain user fees and charges are collected, for which the related services have yet to be performed.
These revenues are recognized in the period when the related expenses are incurred, services
performed, or the tangible capital assets are acquired. 

(j) Restricted Revenue

Revenues or receipts, which are restricted by legislation or that contain stipulations that create a liability,
are deferred and reported as restricted revenues. When qualifying expenses are incurred and/or
stipulations are met, restricted revenues are recognized as revenues in the period which this occurs.

(k) Employee Future Benefits

The District and its employees make contributions to the Municipal Pension Plan (Plan), and the
employees accrue benefits under this Plan based on service.  The District’s contributions to the Plan are
expensed when incurred.

In addition to the Municipal Pension Plan, sick leave and other retirement benefits also accrue to the
District’s employees. The costs of these benefits are actuarially determined based on years of service,
estimated retirement age, and expected future salary and wage levels. The obligations under these
benefit plans are accrued based on the projected benefits earned as the employees render the services
necessary to earn the future benefits.  

(l) Revenue Recognition - Taxation

Taxes are recorded at estimated amounts when they meet the definition of an asset, have been
authorized, and the taxable event occurs. Annual levies for non-optional municipal services and general
administrative services are recorded as taxes for municipal services in the year they are levied. Taxes
receivable are recognized net of an allowance for anticipated uncollectible amounts. Levies imposed by
other taxing authorities are not included as taxes for municipal purposes. 

Through the British Columbia Assessment's appeal process, taxes may be adjusted by way of
supplementary roll adjustments. The effects of these adjustments on taxes may have been included in
initial estimates when recording revenue; to the extent that adjustments exceed the initial estimates, they
are recognized at the time they are awarded. 
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District of Mission
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

1. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(m) Government Transfers

Government transfers, which include legislative grants, are recognized as revenue in the financial
statements when the transfer is authorized and any eligibility criteria are met, except to the extent that
transfer stipulations give rise to an obligation that meets the definition of a liability. Transfers are
recognized as deferred revenue when transfer stipulations give rise to a liability. Transfer revenue is
recognized in the statement of operations as the stipulation liabilities are settled. 

2. Cash and Cash Equivalents

2014 2013

Cash $ 4,525,248 $ 5,701,222

Cashable term deposits 27,136,505 29,000,005

$31,661,753 $34,701,227

Cashable term deposits are comprised of BC Credit Union term deposits, which are cashable either
immediately or within 30 days of issue, with interest rates ranging from 1.75% to 1.90%. 

3. Receivables

2014 2013

Accounts receivable $ 2,659,313 $ 3,630,841

District of Mission Development Corporation receivables - 529

Taxes receivable (including residential utilities) 3,875,156 4,324,026

$ 6,534,469 $ 7,955,396

4. Investments

2014 2013

Fixed term deposits $ 34,193,944 $ 14,500,000

MFA Short-Term Bond Fund - 15,173,252

Mortgage receivable from Mission Regional Chamber of Commerce (secured by
promissory note and general security agreement against debtor's property);
interest rate: 5.5%; maturity: July 1, 2026 110,482 116,623

Total $ 34,304,426 $ 29,789,875

Fixed term deposits are comprised of Canadian bank GICs and BC Credit Union term deposits, which mature
in years 2015 through 2019, with interest rates ranging from 2.05% to 2.80%. 
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District of Mission
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

5. Municipal Finance Authority Debt Reserve Cash Deposits and Demand Notes

The District issues debt instruments through the Municipal Finance Authority (MFA) of British Columbia.  As a
condition of these borrowings, a portion of the debt proceeds are withheld by the MFA in a debt reserve fund as
cash deposits. These debt reserve funds may be used by the MFA if they do not have sufficient funds to meet
the debt payment obligations of the participating municipalities. The District also executes demand notes in
connection with each debt issue whereby the District may be required to loan certain amounts to the MFA.
These demand notes are contingent in nature. The balances of the cash deposits and demand notes, which
are not reported elsewhere in these financial statements, are as follows:

2014 2013

Cash Deposits

General fund $ 161,808 $ 265,403

Sewer utility 3,255 40,164

Water utility 12,718 20,449

$ 177,781 $ 326,016

Demand Notes

General fund $ 320,759 $ 543,964

Sewer utility 6,408 78,125

Water utility 25,037 42,153

$ 352,204 $ 664,242
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District of Mission
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

6. Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

2014 2013

Accounts payable $ 6,951,503 $ 8,458,801

Wages and benefits payable 1,108,262 1,541,718

Landfill closure and post-closure care costs 1,945,588 1,538,410

$10,005,353 $11,538,929

The District’s landfill site is regulated by the British Columbia Ministry of Environment, and as such the District
is subject to certain operating, closure and post-closure obligations at the site.  

The costs associated with landfill closure and post-closure care are recognized over the operating life of the
landfill site in accordance with PSAB standards. The District has estimated and recognized a liability of
$1,945,588 as at December 31, 2014 ($1,538,410 in 2013), for future estimated closure and post-closure costs
at the landfill site. The estimated total expenses for closure and post-closure care are approximately $17.0
million, with approximately $15.1 million remaining to be recognized. There are currently no assets designated
for settling the landfill closure and post-closure care liability. 

The landfill closure and post-closure care liability is based on the discounted costs associated with the phased
closure of various landfill cells and environmental monitoring for 25 years after the landfill is closed.
Approximately 65% of the landfill's capacity remains, and the landfill is predicted to reach capacity around
2046. The discount rate used to estimate the liability as at December 31, 2014 is 3.33% (4.5% in 2013).

7. Long-Term Debt

The District does not carry any debt for other entities. All existing long-term debt is repayable in Canadian
dollars. Refer to Schedule 3 for additional details on outstanding long-term debt, including interest rates,
maturity dates, and payments due within each of the next five years. Details of the District's interest expenses
are as follows:

2014 2013

Long-term debt interest - forestry enterprise $ 2,930 $ 4,847

Long-term debt interest - general operations 661,364 854,540

Long-term debt interest - sewer utility 65,446 71,243

Long-term debt interest - water utility 26,020 105,785

Total long-term debt interest 755,760 1,036,415

Interest on prepayments 33,537 33,028

Total interest expense $ 789,297 $ 1,069,443
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District of Mission
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

8. Restricted Revenue

Cedar Valley
Environmental
Management

Plan

Community
Works Gas

Tax

Development
Cost

Charges
Park Land
Acquisition 2014 2013

Opening balance $ 44,607 $ 6,611,332 $ 1,594,986 $ 2,405,136 $10,656,061 $ 9,215,172

Interest income 977 - 39,865 57,611 98,453 165,527

Fees collected - - 1,476,915 433,960 1,910,875 3,512,364

Transfer balance to accumulated surplus - (6,611,332) - - (6,611,332) -

Subtotal - collections 977 (6,611,332) 1,516,780 491,571 (4,602,004) 3,677,891

Internal loan payments made - - (755,836) - (755,836) (1,371,042)

Internal loan payments received - - - 17,062 17,062 -

Internal loan proceeds - - - - - 13,446

Expenses - - (270,537) - (270,537) (879,406)

Subtotal - amortization of restricted revenue - - (1,026,373) 17,062 (1,009,311) (2,237,002)

Ending balance $ 45,584 $ - $ 2,085,393 $ 2,913,769 $ 5,044,746 $10,656,061

During 2014, the District entered into a renewed Community Works Fund Agreement, which differed in several
ways from the previous agreement. The renewed agreement has significantly relaxed the stipulations around
the use of Community Works Funds, and also provides that any unspent amounts from the previous agreement
will be brought forward to the renewed agreement. The result of these differences, in accordance with PSAB
standards and the District's accounting policy regarding government transfers, is that revenues under the
Community Works Fund Agreement are recognized when they are received. 

Furthermore, unspent amounts from the previous agreement no longer meet the definition of a liability. These
amounts were previously recorded as restricted revenue, and are now included in accumulated surplus (see
Note 11). The impact of this new agreement is a significant increase to revenue in 2014 to recognize the
amounts that were previously deferred. 

Financial Overview

2014 Annual Report          40 



District of Mission
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

9. Employee Future Benefit Obligations

The District provides sick leave and retirement benefits to its employees. The accrued obligations related to
these benefits are as follows:

2014 2013

Accrued benefit obligation, beginning of year $ 1,286,952 $ 1,372,054

Service cost 109,887 106,700

Interest cost 61,655 60,300

Benefit payments (92,152) (243,681)

Actuarial (gain) / loss 4,478 (8,421)

Accrued benefit obligation, end of year $ 1,370,820 $ 1,286,952

The District estimated the accrued benefit obligations by actuarial valuation as at December 31, 2010. The next
actuarial valuation is planned to occur for the year ending December 31, 2015, with results available in 2016.

The significant actuarial assumptions adopted in measuring the District’s accrued benefit obligations are as
follows:

2014 2013

Discount rate   4.50 %   4.50 %

Projected future wage and salary increase   3.00 %   3.00 %

Municipal Pension Plan

The District and its employees contribute to the Municipal Pension Plan (the Plan), a jointly trusteed pension
plan.  The board of trustees, representing the Plan members and employers, is responsible for overseeing the
management of the Plan, including investment of the assets and administration of benefits.  The Plan is a multi-
employer contributory pension plan.  Basic pension benefits provided are based on a formula.  The Plan has
about 182,000 active members and approximately 75,000 retired members. Active members include
approximately 36,000 contributors from local governments.

The most recent actuarial valuation as at December 31, 2012 indicated a $1,370 million funding deficit for basic
pension benefits.  The next valuation will be as at December 31, 2015, with results available in 2016.  

Employers participating in the plan record their pension expense as the amount of employer contributions
made during the fiscal year (defined contribution pension plan accounting). This is because the Plan records
accrued liabilities and accrued assets for the Plan in aggregate, with the result that there is no consistent and
reliable basis for allocating the obligation, assets and cost to individual employers participating in the Plan. 

The District paid $1,211,149 ($1,141,821 in 2013) for employer contributions while employees contributed
$1,087,505 ($1,005,882 in 2013) to the Plan in fiscal 2014.

10. Contingencies

The District has been named as a defendant in various legal actions.  No reserve or liability has been recorded
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For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

10. Contingencies (continued)

regarding any of these legal actions or possible claims if the amount of loss, if any, is indeterminable.
Settlement, if any, made with respect to these actions would be accounted for as a charge to expenses in the
period in which any outcomes are known.

11. Accumulated Surplus

2014 2013
Increase /
(decrease)

General operating surplus $ 4,810,430 $ 5,386,204 $ (575,774)

Sewer operating surplus 786,927 770,062 16,865

Water operating surplus 936,199 916,135 20,064

Development Corporation surplus 808,869 820,838 (11,969)

Appropriated surplus:

Carbon tax 151,092 135,036 16,056

General operating carry forwards 10,063 59,797 (49,734)

Recycling operations 53,924 (8,544) 62,468

Total Unrestricted Surplus 7,557,504 8,079,528 (522,024)

Reserve Funds:

Cemetery 94,032 83,146 10,886

Community amenity 1,429,670 1,274,001 155,669

Community works gas tax 6,520,393 - 6,520,393

Debt retirement 10,341 1,629,978 (1,619,637)

Financial stabilization 639,074 540,731 98,343

Forestry 1,418,431 1,466,812 (48,381)

Gaming 517,823 298,143 219,680

General capital 2,180,246 1,960,752 219,494

Information systems 301,113 367,133 (66,020)

Insurance 465,262 365,138 100,124

Land sale 602 54,970 (54,368)

Legal 239,511 206,544 32,967

Major capital 1,713,272 1,231,256 482,016

Policing 288,176 418,718 (130,542)

Refuse 1,401,170 1,526,795 (125,625)

Roads capital 814,182 475,237 338,945

Sewer capital 11,703,121 10,961,183 741,938

Vehicles and equipment 3,311,055 4,664,302 (1,353,247)

Water capital 10,340,842 8,411,772 1,929,070

Total Reserve Funds 43,388,316 35,936,611 7,451,705

Investment in Tangible Capital Assets 423,768,524 412,272,319 11,496,205

Total Accumulated Surplus $ 474,714,344 $ 456,288,458 $ 18,425,886
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12. Taxation

Budget 2014 2013

Municipal Taxation:

General municipal property taxes $ 27,796,732 $ 27,886,914 $ 27,390,651

Special assessments and area charges 183,288 182,369 188,287

Total municipal taxation 27,980,020 28,069,283 27,578,938

Collections for Other Taxing Authorities:

Province of BC - school taxes 14,873,900 14,946,605 14,846,953

Fraser Valley Regional District 643,197 639,046 640,842

Fraser Valley Regional Hospital District 1,377,768 1,344,039 1,374,270

BC Assessment Authority 377,873 376,300 377,873

Municipal Finance Authority of BC 1,181 1,170 1,181

Downtown Business Association 77,852 79,798 77,852

Total collections for other taxing authorities 17,351,771 17,386,958 17,318,971

Payments to other taxing authorities (17,351,771) (17,386,958) (17,318,971)

Net taxation for municipal purposes $ 27,980,020 $ 28,069,283 $ 27,578,938

13. Government Transfers

2014 2013

Federal $ 8,150,293 $ 1,939,215

Provincial 1,189,520 1,882,180

Total government transfers $ 9,339,813 $ 3,821,395

Federal transfers include the recognition of Community Works Funds previously recorded as restricted
revenue, as set out in Note 8.

14. Letters of Credit and Performance Bonds

In addition to the deposits reflected in the financial statements, the District is holding irrevocable letters of credit
and performance bonds in the amount of approximately $1.7 million as at December 31, 2014 ($2.5 million as
at December 31, 2013), which were received from various parties to ensure completion of various works within
the District.  These amounts are not reflected in the financial statements but are available to satisfy any liability
arising from non-performance by the parties.

15. Segment Reporting

The District provides a wide range of municipal services. These services have been grouped into related
department functions or service areas for segment reporting purposes in Schedule 2, which shows the
associated revenues and expenses for each segment. The various segments and associated departmental
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15. Segment Reporting (continued)

functions or service areas are as follows:

Administration and Finance

• General Administration: general government administration including Council support, managing legal issues,
conducting elections, records management, and oversight of other departmental areas.

• Finance and Purchasing: financial oversight and management including financial planning and reporting,
investments, property tax collections, procurement of goods and services and operation of central stores.

• Human Resources: recruitment and selection, employee and labour relations, compensation and benefits,
workplace health and safety, organizational learning, training and development.

• Information Technology: planning, maintaining and operating the District’s information systems technology
and infrastructure.

• Grants to Organizations: provides grants to Mission non-profit organizations including arts and culture,
recreation and social services, and community events grants.

General Government and Fiscal Services

• Property taxation, investments, general fund debt servicing, municipal hall shared office services, insurance,
and general cost recovery transactions.

Protective Services

• Police Services: utilizes contracted RCMP members and municipal employees to provide proactive general
and community policing services (including victim services, speed watch programs and school/youth programs)
within the District. Regional integrated police units also provide services to the community related to homicide
investigations, emergency response, traffic re-construction, dog unit assistance, and forensic identification.

• Fire and Emergency Services: fire response, investigation and prevention services, emergency response
services (for motor vehicle accidents and medical incidents), and emergency planning.

• Bylaw and Inspection Services: administering and enforcing the District’s regulatory bylaws including the
building, business licensing, and dog licensing bylaws.

• Restorative Resolutions: assists citizens in overcoming and resolving conflicts, by engaging willing
participants in a process that addresses the root causes of conflict including repairing any harm that has
resulted from conflict.

Engineering and Public Works

• Engineering: oversees and plans the District’s extensive infrastructure network of roads, bridges, drainage
systems, etc., and provides for maintenance of municipal facilities.

• Public Works: maintains and builds infrastructure including roads, pedestrian walkways, drainage systems,
diking, and provides for snow removal and efficient operation of the District’s gravel pit.
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15. Segment Reporting (continued)

• Environmental Services: provides direction on environmental issues and leads the District’s commitment to
community-wide stewardship of the natural environment.

• Equipment Fleet: operation and maintenance of the District’s fleet of municipal vehicles and equipment.
Vehicle/equipment costs are charged back to the various user departments.

Transit Services

• Oversees the local bus system (in partnership with the City of Abbotsford), and contributing to the West Coast
Express train and train-bus services between Mission and Vancouver.

Waste Management

• Oversees contracted curbside collection of refuse, compost and recyclables, and is responsible for
overseeing contracted operations at the District’s landfill site.

Development Services

• Planning: land use planning and administration of the District’s Official Community Plan (OCP) and zoning
bylaws.

• Economic Development: generating and coordinating economic development, tourism and film activity in the
community.

Parks, Recreation and Cultural Services

• Operation of the District’s recreational facilities including the leisure center and various parks and trails, and
for the development and implementation of arts and cultural programs/events.

• Social Development: developing and implementing an action oriented social development program aimed at
realizing the District of Mission’s mission statement, which is, “…to build a safe and healthy community
abundant in economic, cultural and recreation opportunities.”

Library

• The Library is a member of Fraser Valley Regional Library system, providing access to books, magazines,
DVDs, CD music, materials in other languages, free downloadable e-books and e-audio books. The library
provides information services including programs for all ages, meeting room and study space, wireless
connection, online instant chat, and basic computer instruction.

Cemetery

• Administration and operation of the District’s cemetery and crematorium, including arranging for burials and
memorials.

Water Utility

• Oversees the regional water supply and treatment systems (in partnership with the City of Abbotsford), and 
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For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

15. Segment Reporting (continued)

plans for and maintains the District’s localized water distribution system.

Sewer Utility

• Oversees the regional sewage treatment plant and related source control activities (in partnership with the
City of Abbotsford), and plans for and maintains the District’s localized sewage conveyance system.

Forestry Enterprise

• Administers and operates the Mission Tree Farm forestry operation which includes harvesting of timber, tree
planting, forestry road construction/maintenance, trail building, log marketing, and other forestry related
activities.

Development Corporation

• The District of Mission Development Corporation has provided loans and mortgages to various organizations
in the past in order to generate economic development activity within the District, and holds a variety of real
estate properties. Development Corporation operations ceased in 2014.

16. Cemetery Perpetual Care Trust Fund

The Cemetery Perpetual Care Trust Fund is administered in accordance with the Cremation, Interment and
Funeral Services Act. In accordance with PSAB guidelines, the Cemetery Perpetual Care Trust Fund is
excluded from the District’s consolidated financial statements. 

Cemetery Perpetual Care Trust Fund 2014 2013

Financial Assets

Cemetery trust fund investments $ 806,156 $ 787,510

Equity

Balance, beginning of year 787,510 764,869

Care fund contributions 18,646 22,641

Interest earnings 17,451 13,040

Contribution to cemetery operations (17,451) (13,040)

Balance, end of year $ 806,156 $ 787,510

17. Comparative Figures

Certain comparative figures for 2013 have been reclassified to conform to the 2014 financial statement
presentation.
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Schedule 1 - Tangible Capital Assets

Included in total additions are capital assets received from developers through property development activities,
which totalled $3,719,586  in 2014 ($3,184,347  in 2013).

The amount of interest capitalized was $- in 2014 ($- in 2013).

Cost,
December 31,

2013 Additions
Cost of

Disposals

Cost,
December 31,

2014

Assets under construction $ 5,135,134 $ (4,161,562) $ (32,818) $ 940,754

Buildings and improvements 43,567,448 2,169,492 - 45,736,940

Drainage infrastructure 90,774,073 906,256 (29,443) 91,650,886

Information technology infrastructure 2,227,467 312,215 (510,810) 2,028,872

Land 95,170,312 2,456,161 (77,235) 97,549,238

Land improvements 2,113,925 - - 2,113,925

Landfill infrastructure 7,163,627 316,384 - 7,480,011

Parks infrastructure 4,311,079 13,325 - 4,324,404

Recycling depot (regional) 538,274 - - 538,274

Sewage conveyance infrastructure (local) 49,210,457 217,114 - 49,427,571

Sewage treatment plant (regional) 17,127,724 3,809,617 (48,779) 20,888,562

Transportation infrastructure 154,722,962 3,125,802 (629,939) 157,218,825

Vehicles and equipment 10,114,698 1,435,043 (59,627) 11,490,114

Water distribution infrastructure (local) 40,636,255 1,946,640 (117,421) 42,465,474

Water supply infrastructure (regional) 24,653,652 484,198 (302,938) 24,834,912

$ 547,467,087 $ 13,030,685 $ (1,809,010) $ 558,688,762
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Accumulated
Amortization, 
December 31,

2013
Amortization

Expense

Accumulated
Amortization on

Disposals

Accumulated
Amortization, 
December 31,

2014

Net Book
Value, 

December 31,
2014

Net Book
Value, 

December 31,
2013

$ - $ - $ - $ - $ 940,754 $ 5,135,134

(10,868,827) (1,007,084) - (11,875,911) 33,861,029 32,698,621

(20,217,619) (960,176) 26,466 (21,151,329) 70,499,557 70,556,454

(1,436,863) (208,674) 504,687 (1,140,850) 888,022 790,604

- - - - 97,549,238 95,170,312

(754,615) (55,800) - (810,415) 1,303,510 1,359,310

(2,705,460) (211,819) - (2,917,279) 4,562,732 4,458,167

(2,041,459) (177,709) - (2,219,168) 2,105,236 2,269,620

(491,044) (16,724) - (507,768) 30,506 47,230

(11,334,082) (513,689) - (11,847,771) 37,579,800 37,876,375

(6,989,591) (551,902) 48,712 (7,492,781) 13,395,781 10,138,133

(41,708,660) (2,503,827) 305,959 (43,906,528) 113,312,297 113,014,302

(4,769,389) (620,908) 59,626 (5,330,671) 6,159,443 5,345,309

(11,713,192) (535,882) 93,228 (12,155,846) 30,309,628 28,923,063

(6,391,745) (682,093) 278,054 (6,795,784) 18,039,128 18,261,907

$ (121,422,546) $ (8,046,287) $ 1,316,732 $ (128,152,101) $ 430,536,661 $ 426,044,541
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Schedule 2 - Statement of Operations by Segment

Administration
and finance

General
government
and fiscal
services

Protective
services

Engineering
and public

works
Transit

services
Waste

management
Development

services

Revenues

Taxation $ - $ 28,008,692 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -

Sales of services and regulatory fees 126,718 2,451,091 1,058,288 689,076 681,203 4,305,935 227,723

Government transfers - 8,724,824 384,917 43,692 - - 20,065

Amortization of restricted revenue - 270,662 - 18,159 - - -

Investment income - 823,908 - - - - -

Other revenue 13,601 583,874 975 - - - 2,000

Developer contributions in-kind
related to capital - - - 2,925,102 - - -

Gain/(loss) on disposal of tangible
capital assets - 1,783,264 - (170,509) - - -

Total revenues 140,319 42,646,315 1,444,180 3,505,520 681,203 4,305,935 249,788

Expenses

Amortization - 312,176 150,500 3,943,241 - 230,606 -

Good and services 874,827 (49,053) 9,112,456 529,201 2,736,243 3,795,967 349,514

Grants 399,902 - - 500 - - -

Interest - 694,901 - - - - -

Salaries and benefits 2,997,083 292,270 3,866,901 3,051,741 9,935 187,693 1,661,762

Total expenses 4,271,812 1,250,294 13,129,857 7,524,683 2,746,178 4,214,266 2,011,276

Annual Surplus / (Deficit) $ (4,131,493) $ 41,396,021 $(11,685,677) $ (4,019,163) $ (2,064,975) $ 91,669 $ (1,761,488)
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For the Year Ended December 31, 2014

Parks,
recreation

and cultural
services Library Cemetery Water utility Sewer utility

Forestry
enterprise

Development
Corporation 2014 2013

$ - $ - $ - $ 14,993 $ 45,598 $ - $ - $ 28,069,283 $ 27,578,938

2,211,692 5,179 200,970 5,992,158 4,261,806 4,201,557 - 26,413,396 25,541,436

80,463 - - 9,602 - 76,250 - 9,339,813 3,821,395

2,552 - - 455,037 262,901 - - 1,009,311 2,237,002

- - - 223,180 262,350 - 10,668 1,320,106 855,635

42,347 1,276,682 17,451 26,268 105,362 - - 2,068,560 1,819,906

- - - 598,866 195,618 - - 3,719,586 3,184,347

(7,156) - - (78,239) (86) - - 1,527,274 (995,632)

2,329,898 1,281,861 218,421 7,241,865 5,133,549 4,277,807 10,668 73,467,329 64,043,027

1,080,172 - 3,346 1,217,975 1,065,591 42,680 - 8,046,287 7,936,834

1,773,372 1,347,505 88,484 1,967,648 1,932,074 3,560,902 5,970 28,025,110 26,725,651

- - - - - - - 400,402 374,595

- - - 26,020 65,446 2,930 - 789,297 1,069,443

3,820,841 20,584 164,828 639,131 515,080 535,831 16,667 17,780,347 17,895,939

6,674,385 1,368,089 256,658 3,850,774 3,578,191 4,142,343 22,637 55,041,443 54,002,462

$ (4,344,487) $ (86,228) $ (38,237) $ 3,391,091 $ 1,555,358 $ 135,464 $ (11,969) $ 18,425,886 $ 10,040,565
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Schedule 3 - Long-Term Debt

Debt Issue #
Year

Issued Purpose
Year of
Maturity

Interest
Rate

Principal
Outstanding 
December 31,

2014

Principal
Outstanding 

December 31,
2013

General Debt

68 1998 Firehall/EOC building 2018 5.550%           $ 483,711 $ 590,594

81 2004 Leisure centre/sports park/water park 2024 4.860%           - 3,665,905

85 2004 Leisure centre/sports park/water park 2024 5.200%           - 1,333,056

95 2005 Leisure centre/sports park/water park 2025 4.170%           1,933,834 2,071,711

99 2006 Leisure centre/sports park/water park 2026 4.430%           4,350,592 4,628,997

Lease 2010 Forestry excavator 2015 2.000%           - 224,187

Subtotal - General 6,768,137 12,514,450

Sewer Utility Debt

Regional Sewer

63 1996 Regional sewer infrastructure 2016 4.000%           - 61,710

71 1999 Regional sewer infrastructure 2019 3.150%           - 531,031

85 2004 Regional sewer infrastructure 2024 4.983%           - 286,341

Subtotal - Sewer Utility - 879,082

Water Utility Debt

Regional Water

85 2004 Regional water infrastructure 2024 4.975%           - 378,690

Subtotal - Water Utility - 378,690

Total Long-Term Debt $ 6,768,137 $ 13,772,222
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Future Payments (Principal & Interest)

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

$ 130,462 $ 130,462 $ 130,462 $ 90,937 $ -

- - - - -

- - - - -

225,845 225,845 225,845 225,845 225,845

490,655 490,655 490,655 490,655 490,655

- - - - -

846,962 846,962 846,962 807,437 716,500

- - - - -

- - - - -

- - - - -

- - - - -

- - - - -

- - - - -

$ 846,962 $ 846,962 $ 846,962 $ 807,437 $ 716,500
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Schedule 4 - Internal Debt/Transfers Outstanding

Borrowing Fund Lending Fund Purpose
Year Funds
Advanced

Cedar Valley Drainage DCC General Capital Reserve Fund Detention pond D1 2010

Cedar Valley Drainage DCC Major Capital Reserve Fund Gaudin Creek re-alignment, property
purchase 2011

Cedar Valley Sewer DCC Sewer Capital Reserve Fund Cedar Valley gravity trunk sewer,
forcemain, and pump station 2000-2001

Cedar Valley Sewer Extension DCC Sewer Capital Reserve Fund Cedar Valley local improvement area
sewer extension 2002

Land Sale Reserve Fund General Fund Accumulated Surplus Purchase of 7337 Welton Street 2014

Roads - All Areas DCC Major Capital Reserve Fund Highway 7/Nelson Street intersection
improvements 2011

Regional Sewage Treatment DCC Sewer Capital Reserve Fund Septage receiving station, biosolids
dewatering, #3 trickling filter, biosolids
storage area 2009

Regional Sewage Treatment DCC Sewer Capital Reserve Fund Stage 7 upgrades and digester gas
upgrades 2010

Regional Sewage Treatment DCC Sewer Capital Reserve Fund Headworks upgrade, transformer
installation 2011

Regional Water Supply DCC Water Capital Reserve Fund Norrish Creek intake works, Gladwin
transmission main 2011

Regional Water Supply DCC Water Capital Reserve Fund Gladwin transmission main 2012

Silverdale Bridge DCC Parkland Reserve Fund Silverdale industrial subdivision bridge 2005

Silverdale Industrial Water DCC Water Capital Reserve Fund Silverdale industrial subdivision water
infrastructure 2006

Silverdale Industrial Sewer DCC Sewer Capital Reserve Fund Silverdale industrial subdivision sewer
infrastructure 2006

Totals

Note: DCC - Development Cost Charge
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Opening
Balance,

December 31,
2013

Advances &
Adjustments Payments

Balance Before
Interest

Interest @
2.19%

Interest
Adjustment

Ending
Balance,

December 31,
2014

$ 200,209 $ - $ - $ 200,209 $ 4,385 $ (4,385) $ 200,209

403,490 - - 403,490 8,836 (8,836) 403,490

1,407,172 - (14,788) 1,392,384 30,655 (30,655) 1,392,384

315,224 - (235) 314,989 6,901 (6,901) 314,989

- 1,925,000 (1,914,434) 10,566 116 - 10,682

270,662 - (270,662) - 2,964 (2,964) -

295,954 - - 295,954 6,481 (6,481) 295,954

110,446 - - 110,446 2,419 (2,419) 110,446

198,255 - - 198,255 4,342 (4,342) 198,255

290,697 - (290,697) - 3,183 (3,183) -

491,555 - (162,392) 329,163 8,987 (8,987) 329,163

784,417 - (17,062) 767,355 16,992 (16,992) 767,355

331,048 - - 331,048 7,250 (7,250) 331,048

138,079 - - 138,079 3,024 (3,024) 138,079

$ 5,237,208 $ 1,925,000 $ (2,670,270) $ 4,491,938 $ 106,535 $ (106,419) $ 4,492,054
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 Independent Auditor’s Report 
 

 
To the Mayor and Council of the District of Mission 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of The District of Mission Development 
Corporation which comprise the Statement of Financial Position as at December 31, 2014, and the 
Statements of Operations and Accumulated Surplus, Changes in Net Financial Assets and Cash Flows for 
the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information. 
 
Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor's Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those 
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's 
preparation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's 
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and 
the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. 
 
We believe the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of The District of Mission Development Corporation as at December 31, 2014 and the results of its 
operations, changes in net financial assets and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
Canadian public sector accounting standards. 

 

 

 

Chartered Accountants 
Vancouver, British Columbia 
May 4, 2015 
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DISTRICT OF MISSION DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
Final Statement of Financial Position

as at December 31, 2014
2014                        2013                        

Financial Assets
Cash -$                         11,912$                   
Receivables -                          529                          
Investments (Note 2) -                          326,372                   

-                          338,813                   

Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities -                          32,670                     

Net Financial Assets -                          306,143                   

Non-Financial Assets
Inventory of property -                          524,695                   

Accumulated Surplus -$                         830,838$                 

_________________
Kris Boland CPA, CGA Randy Hawes
Treasurer Mayor

The accompanying notes and schedules are an integral part of these financial statements.
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DISTRICT OF MISSION DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
Final Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus

for the year ended December 31, 2014
Budget 2014                   2013                

Revenue
Investment income 19,848$              10,668$              10,170$           

Expenses
Salaries and benefits 20,000                16,668                28,870             
Goods and services 4,375                  5,969                  6,294               
Total Expenses 24,375                22,637                35,164             

Annual Deficit (4,527)$               (11,969)$             (24,994)$          

Accumulated Surplus, Beginning of Year 830,838$            830,838$            855,832$         
Less: Annual deficit (4,527)                 (11,969)               (24,994)            
Less: Surplus transferred to District of Mission -                      (818,869)             -                   
Accumulated Surplus, End of Year 826,311$            -$                        830,838$         

The accompanying notes and schedules are an integral part of these financial statements.
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DISTRICT OF MISSION DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
Final Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets

for the year ended December 31, 2014
Budget 2014                    2013                 

Annual Deficit (4,527)$                (11,969)$              (24,994)$           
Net financial assets transferred to District of Mission -                           (294,174)              -                        

Decrease in net financial assets (4,527)                  (306,143)              (24,994)             

Net financial assets, beginning of year 306,143               306,143               331,137            
Net financial assets, end of year 301,616$             -$                         306,143$          

The accompanying notes and schedules are an integral part of these financial statements.
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DISTRICT OF MISSION DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
Final Statement of Cash Flows

for the year ended December 31, 2014

2014                 2013                 

Operating Transactions

Annual deficit (11,969)$           (24,994)$           

Change in non-cash operating items:
     Receivables 243                   120                   
     Accounts payable (29,670)             28,870              
     Net change in cash from operating (41,396)             3,996                

Investing Transactions

Decrease in investments 215,822            2,782                

Net Change in Cash 174,426            6,778                

Cash, Beginning of Year 11,912              5,134                

Cash Transferred to District of Mission (186,338)           -                       

Cash, End of Year -$                     11,912$            

The accompanying notes and schedules are an integral part of these financial statements.
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District of Mission Development Corporation 
Notes to the Final Financial Statements 
 
for the year ended December 31, 2014 
 
General 

The District of Mission Development Corporation (the Corporation) was incorporated on March 9, 1977, under the 
laws of the B.C. Company Act and the B.C. Municipal Act.  The Corporation’s recent business activities involved 
earning interest from loans and mortgages provided to various organizations and investing in a parcel of land 
currently held in inventory. The Corporation ceased operations in 2014, and transferred all assets and liabilities to 
the Corporation’s sole shareholder, the District of Mission. 
 
 

1. Significant accounting policies 
  

(a) Basis of Presentation 

The financial statements of the Corporation are prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector 
accounting standards established by the Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB) of the Chartered 
Professional Accountants Canada.    
 
(b) Investments 

Investments are recorded at cost.  Investments are written down to net realizable value when there has 
been, in the opinion of management, a decline in market value that is not temporary.  Investments in 
the Municipal Finance Authority (MFA) of British Columbia Short-Term Bond Fund are recorded at 
market value, which approximates cost.  
 
(c) Inventory of Property  

Inventory of property is recorded at cost. The total assessed value of the properties as at July 1, 2014, 
as determined by the BC Assessment Authority, was $4,490,000 (2013 was $4,751,000), which may or 
may not approximate market value. 
 
(d) Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian public sector accounting standards 
established by PSAB requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amount of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported 
amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. As such, actual results could differ from 
those estimates. 
 

2. Investments 
 2014 2013 
MFA Short-Term Bond Fund $         - 

 
$  209,749 

Mortgage receivable from Mission Regional Chamber of Commerce (secured 
by promissory note and general security agreement against debtor’s property);     
Interest rate: 5.5%; maturity: July 1, 2026            -     116,623 
Total $         - $  326,372 
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District of Mission Development Corporation 
Notes to the Final Financial Statements 
 
for the year ended December 31, 2014 
 

3. Related Party Transactions 

The District of Mission charges the Corporation for administrative salary costs related to carrying out the 
Corporation’s business activities. 
 

4. Fair Market Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 

For certain of the Corporation’s financial instruments, including cash, receivables, and accounts payable 
and accrued liabilities, the carrying amounts approximate fair market value due to the immediate or short-
term maturity of these financial instruments. 

The fair market value of investments approximates the carrying value (including accrued interest) of the 
various instruments, based on quoted year-end market bid prices. The fair market value of the mortgage 
investment approximates its carrying value. 
 

5. Income Taxes 

All issued shares of the Corporation are owned by the District of Mission, a local government in the 
Province of British Columbia. Consequently, and pursuant to section 149(1)(d) of the Income Tax Act, the 
Corporation is exempt from income tax. 
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Revenue and Expenses 
Last Five Fiscal Years Comparison 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Revenue
Taxation 27,599,869$       28,712,055$       29,147,989$       27,578,938$       28,069,283$       
Sales of services & regulatory fees 21,678,815         22,611,625         25,321,075         25,541,436         26,413,396         
Government transfers 6,364,879           4,658,856           1,883,802           3,821,395           9,339,813           
Amortization of restricted revenue 3,548,959           2,549,031           1,892,107           2,237,002           1,009,311           
Investment income 586,237              1,089,526           922,008              855,635              1,320,106           
Other revenue 303,032              391,884              408,757              1,819,906           2,068,560           
Developer contributions in-kind related to capital 13,870,183         1,067,810           3,398,186           3,184,347           3,719,586           
Gain/(loss) on disposal of tangible capital assets -                          -                          -                          (995,632)             1,527,274           
Total revenues 73,951,974$      61,080,787$      62,973,924$      64,043,027$       73,467,329$      

Expenses

Analysis by function
Administration and finance 4,194,080$         4,512,807$         4,412,245$         4,203,501$         4,271,812$         
General government and fiscal services 6,964,297           1,344,932           1,996,378           1,117,682           1,250,294           
Protective services 11,709,651         13,821,674         13,137,926         13,188,918         13,129,857         
Engineering and public works 3,439,808           10,016,558         7,692,267           7,171,049           7,524,683           
Transit services 1,879,410           2,042,357           2,282,039           2,465,741           2,746,178           
Waste management 3,479,891           4,780,360           4,572,226           4,507,088           4,214,266           
Development services 1,247,322           1,232,657           1,356,210           2,082,628           2,011,276           
Parks, recreation and cultural services 4,987,836           6,144,306           6,359,668           6,483,489           6,674,385           
Library 1,110,220           1,164,141           1,270,747           1,351,476           1,368,089           
Cemetery 221,028              237,539              237,132              250,312              256,658              
Water utility 3,149,550           3,792,363           4,640,389           4,241,014           3,850,774           
Sewer utility 2,971,590           3,235,662           3,257,345           3,578,302           3,578,191           
Forestry enterprise 2,749,860           2,893,761           4,395,939           3,326,097           4,142,343           
Development corporation 31,921                31,213                37,550                35,165                22,637                
Total expenses by function 48,136,464$      55,250,330$      55,648,061$      54,002,462$       55,041,443$      

Analysis by object
Amortization 7,051,152$         7,382,246$         8,001,235$         7,936,834$         8,046,287$         
Goods and services 23,278,693         28,150,905         27,916,583         26,725,651         28,025,110         
Grants 446,224              453,121              464,892              374,595              400,402              
Interest 1,172,439           1,185,378           1,101,819           1,069,443           789,297              
Salaries and benefits 16,376,750         17,761,236         17,764,937         17,895,939         17,780,347         
(Gain) / Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets (188,794)             317,444              398,595              -                          -                          
Total expenses by object 48,136,464$      55,250,330$      55,648,061$      54,002,462$       55,041,443$      

Annual surplus 25,815,510$       5,830,457$         7,325,863$         10,040,565$       18,425,886$       

Accumulated surplus 432,732,573$     438,563,030$     446,247,893$     456,288,458$     474,714,344$     

Net financial assets 12,509,219$       14,137,934$       20,899,110$       29,464,994$       43,342,359$       
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Financial Indicators 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 

Sustainability indicators:      
Total Assets-to-liabilities 12.11 11.16 11.43 11.56 17.13 
Financial assets-to-liabilities 1.42 1.33 1.48 1.68 2.47 

Flexibility indicators:      
Total debt servicing costs-to-total revenue 0.03 0.05 0.04 0.05 0.11 

Vulnerability indicators:      

Total government transfers-to-total revenues 0.10 0.08 0.03 0.06 0.13 

Financial 
(Source: Finance Department) 
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Property Tax Collections 
  2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 

Current taxes levied(1) $44,331,719 $45,049,111 $45,596,276 $46,941,332 47,535,735 

Current taxes collected $41,225,388 $42,019,608 $42,702,539 $43,985,161 44,872,255 

Current taxes outstanding 
at December  31 $3,106,331 $3,029,503 $2,893,737 $2,956,171 2,663,480 

Percentage of current  
taxes collected 93.0% 93.3% 93.6% 93.7% 94.4% 

(1)Includes collections for other authorities and penalties 

Taxation and Assessment 
(Source: BC Assessment Authority & Finance Department)     

 2014 Major Tax Revenue Base  
*Mission Valley Shopping Centre $1,056,657 *Silver Creek Investments Ltd. $83,236 

**BC Hydro $872,864 *Delesalle Holdings $80,425 

*RMM Mission Property Inc. $459,687 *359719 BC Ltd. $76,611 

*Loblaw Properties West Inc. $419,210 *Anayat Holdings Ltd. $73,706 

**Correction Services Canada    $361,896 *BC Custom Car Association $69,978 

*Mission City Holdings Ltd. $237,492 ****Telus and Subsidiaries   $66,614 

*Daro Developments Ltd. $194,398 *Jayberg Enterprises Ltd. $66,613 

*Snowcat Property Holdings Ltd. $175,445 *Madison Development Corp. $63,474 

*Canadian Pacific Railway $168,244 *LLRC Investments Ltd. $61,000 

*Genstar Titleco Ltd. $144,010 *Solterra Development $59,748 

*Mission Western Developments $138,301 *Cressey Development Corp. $59,174 

*Canadian Tire Real Estate Ltd. $135,986 *Mamele’awt Qweesome Housing  $58,858 

****Fortis BC (Terasen Gas) $131,302 ***Shaw Communications $52,004 

*Lonsdale Mews Ltd $127,443 *BC Frozen Foods Ltd $58,205 

*493989 BC Ltd. $100,251 *Atlanta Carpets Inc. $55,213 

*Baltic Properties (Mission) 2014 $88,799 *Mission Ridge Holdings Inc. $55,192 

*2245781 Ontario Inc. $88,032 *Alpenhaus Restaurants Ltd. $51,205 

*JNJJ Enterprises Ltd. $85,966 *Mauricon Developments Ltd $50,607 

  TOTAL $6,127,845 
*Includes municipal, policing and library taxes,  
**Includes grants in lieu,  
***Includes 1% utility taxes, and  
****Includes municipal, policing and library and 1% utility taxes. 
Does not include special levies, utilities, and taxes levied by other taxing authorities. 
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  2010 2011 2012 2013 
Residential $4,356,177,010 $4,521,275,901 $4,518,726,001 $4,569,178,787 

Utilities 4,966,930 5,056,835 5,397,665 5,581,385 

Light Industry 63,278,600 67,367,600 69,435,700 71,332,400 

Business/Other 355,029,705 351,305,405 376,647,505 397,008,005 

Managed Forest 102,000 93,900 86,200 82,500 

Recreational /Non-Profit 13,100,200 13,134,200 12,496,200 12,205,100 

Farm 2,965,707 3,134,776 3,094,438 3,027,865 

TOTAL $4,795,620,552 $4,961,368,617 $4,985,883,709 $5,058,416,042 

2014 
$4,448,740,313 

5,831,765 

71,258,100 

422,787,005 

129,400 

13,377,100 

3,202,300 

$4,965,325,983 
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 Name of Organization 
Monetary Value 

of Exempt 
Municipal Taxes 

* Monetary Value 
of Other Exempt 

Taxes 

** Monetary 
Value of all Tax                

Exemptions 
All Saints Anglican Church and Manse  $       2,089 $       1,039 $       3,128 
Bethel Pentecostal Assembly  10,295 4,396 14,691 
Cedar Valley Mennonite Church  10,682 4,561 15,243 
Christian Missionary Alliance Church  6,611 2,823 9,434 
Four Square Gospel Church  3,080 1,315 4,395 
Fraser House Society  2,598 1,568 4,166 
Greek Orthodox Church  2,954 1,261 4,215 
Mission Arts Council  7,783 4,305 12,088 
Mission Association for Community Living  11,026 6,655 17,681 
Mission Association for Seniors’ Housing  24,066 14,525 38,591 
Mission Community Services Society  15,481 8,630 24,111 
Mission Daycare Society  7,172 4,328 11,500 
Mission District Historical Society   3,442 1,582 5,024 
Mission Elk’s Lodge #30   3,369 1,439 4,808 

Mission Evangelical Free Church   1,889 807 2,696 

Mission Friendship Centre Society  5,395 2,304 7,699 

Mission Gur Sikh Society   27,311 11,663 38,974 
Mission Horse Club   3,832 1,656 5,488 
Mission Hospice Society 1,466 885 2,351 

Mission Regional Chamber of Commerce  8,211 4,542 12,753 
Mission Zion Christian Fellowship  1,130 482 1,612 
Mt. Calvary Lutheran Church  5,719 2,442 8,161 

New Horizon’s Lawn Bowling Society  3,955 1,726 5,681 

North Valley Baptist Church  9,388 4,009 13,397 
Pleasant View Housing Society 1980  26,038 15,715 41,753 
Royal Canadian Legion Branch #57  5,483 2,341 7,824 
Seventh Day Adventists  1,774 757 2,531 
Silverdale Community Centre  5,429 2,546 7,975 

Silverhill Hall Association  2,325 993 3,318 
St. Clare’s Monastery  10,409 4,445 14,854 
St. Joseph’s Catholic Church  8,202 3,503 11,705 

St. Paul’s Presbyterian Church  12,474 5,327 17,801 

Steelhead Community Association  6,277 3,472 9,749 
Sto:Lo Heritage Trust Society  17,364 9,761 27,125 
The Mel Jr. and Marty Zajac Foundation  58,677 33,618 92,295 
Trustee of Mission Congregation of Jehovah’s 
Witnesses  3,633 1,551 5,184 

Trustees of the Mission City Congregation of Church 
of God (7th Day) 1,921 820 2,741 

Union Gospel Mission  1,034 624 1,658 

Universal Hua Tsang Monastery  5,380 2,297 7,677 

Valley Christian School 4,122 1,760 5,882 

West Heights Gospel Chapel  2,304 984 3,288 

Women’s Resource Society of the Fraser Valley  10,616 6,119 16,735 

Totals $   362,406 $   185,576 $   547,982 

* Includes school taxes and Fraser Valley Regional District, Fraser Valley Regional Hospital, BC Assessment, and Municipal Finance Authority levies. 

** Does not include statutory tax exemptions provided to church property via provincial legislation. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2014 Permissive Tax Exemptions 
(Source: BC Assessment Authority & Finance Department) 
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Police Protection 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 

Police Authorized Strength* 52 52 52 52 50 

Police Budgeted Strength* 48 48 47 47 47 

Police Actual Strength* 48 47 47 47 47 
Police to Population Ratio  
(actual strength) 1/783 1/795 1/800 1/802 1/819 

Crime Rate (per 1,000 population) 103.2 93.5 98.9 91.6 ** 

Criminal Code Offences 3,870 3,493 3,713 3,441 ** 

Violent Offences 716 654 637 578 ** 

*Authorized strength = number of police officer positions approved for funding by municipality. 
Budgeted strength = number of police officer positions funded by municipality. 
Actual strength = number of actual police officer positions utilized.  Does not include integrated teams. 

**Statistics not available for these years. 

Crime Category 
(reported incidents) 

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 

Break & Enter Residential 164 189 228 129 138 

Break & Enter Business 66 95 48 77 61 

Theft of Vehicle 309 207 145 162 222 

Theft from Vehicle 509 423 625 463 458 

Assault 331 339 295 280 268 

Property Damage 585 550 519 528 494 

Theft 573 479 520 531 572 

% Change 

7% 

-21% 

37% 

-1% 

-4% 

-6% 

8% 

Policing  
(Source: RCMP Detachment) 

Comparison of Crime Statistics 2012 to 2013 
Mission RCMP Detachment 
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   2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 

Voters on Voter’s List 22,628 24,281 24,281 24,281 24,798 

Municipal Employees (FTEs) 206.7 204.8 198.0 195.6 196.8 

Number of “Hits” on the District website 155,222 226,251 261,073 281,397 348,135 

Number of Properties (roll numbers) 13,651 13,706 13,755 13,871 14,012 

Number of Development Applications  96 102 90 90 58 

Number of Dog Licenses Issued 5,237 6,008 6,136 5,843 6,110 

Number of Filming Permits Issued 11 4 13 9 8 

Yearly Average Public Transit Ridership N/A 509,966 520,000 531,692 N/A 

Number of Leisure Centre Pool Visits N/A 186,944 198,072 203,233 205,029 

Number of Leisure Centre Fitness Room 
Visits 

N/A 113,404 93,035 93,320 92,675 

Number of Youth Lounge Visits N/A 4,579 2,788 3,576 4,262 

Number of Paid On-Call Fire Fighters 63 66 66 76 78 

Number of Response Calls 1,200 1,220 1,287 1,613 1,433 

Number of Municipal Fire Hydrants 1,017 1,023 1,026 1,026 1,026 

Total Paved Roads (kms) 286 287 292 293 297 

Total Sanitary Sewer Pipes (kms) 150 150 151 152 152 

Total Water Pipes (kms) 188 188 189 189 191 

Compost Diversion (tonnes) 
(curbside food & yard waste & landfill green waste)  

1,800 3,000 3,935 3,774 4,062 

Compost Give-Away (tonnes) 
(once a year “thank you” to residents) 

Compost Give-Away 
started in 2012 

79 210 227 

Curbside Garbage (tonnes) 4,000 3,800 3,741 3,790 3,882 

Curbside, Landfill, Recycling Centre 
 Recyclables (tonnes)  

2,960 1,860 2,675 2,460 2,328 

Number of Seedlings Planted (per year) 60,280 64,420 70,270 89,800 76,460 

Area of Manual Brushing (hectares) 45.3 49.8 43.1 41.1 70 

Miscellaneous 
(Source: Various Departments of the District of Mission and BC Stats)     
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Amortization:  The deduction of capital expenses 
over a specific period of time (usually over the 
asset’s life).  This measures the consumption of 
the value of capital assets. 

Budget:  A financial plan that sets out all planned 
revenues and expenditures for the budget period. 

Capital Funding:  The funding provided for capital 
projects through operating budget contributions, 
reserves, debt, grants from other levels of 
government, or other sources. 

Debt Limit:  The Provincially legislated limit by 
which a municipality may incur debt (an         
obligation resulting from the borrowing of       
money).  Debt servicing costs (i.e. principal and 
interest) may not exceed 25% of the previous 
year’s revenue. Incurring debt beyond these  limits 
requires prior Provincial Government approval. 

Development Cost Charges (DCCs):  A fee charged 
to new developments to pay for the cost of capital 
infrastructure required as a result of growth. 

Fiscal Year:  A twelve-month period designated as 
the operating year for accounting and budgeting 
purposes in an organization. The District’s fiscal 
year is January to December.  

Full-time Equivalent (FTE) Positions:  Conversion 
of full and part-time positions to the decimal 
equivalent of full-time positions based on full-time 
hours.  For example, an employee who works 
twenty-six weeks in a year would be equivalent to 
0.50 of a full-time position. 

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 
(GAAP):  Uniform minimum standards for     
financial accounting and recording,              
encompassing the conventions, rules and    
procedures that define accepted accounting    
principles. 

Management Letter:  An auxiliary letter that is 
produced by the auditor as part of the annual 
financial statement audit which provides 
recommendations for improving internal controls 
and other business practices. 

 

Municipal Finance Authority (MFA):  A provincial             
organization that provides for marketing, 
placement, and administration of all municipal debt     
requirements.  This Authority also operates an   
investment pool on behalf of municipalities. 

Permissive Tax Exemptions:  The authority that 
Council has under the Community Charter to 
exempt certain charitable or philanthropic 
organizations from property taxes.  

Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB):  The body 
of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants 
(CICA) that issues recommendations and guidance 
with respect to matters of accounting in the public 
sector.  Its aim is to improve the financial and 
performance information reported by governments 
and other public sector entities for the benefit of 
decision makers and other users of the information. 
The District of Mission adheres to PSABs Public 
Sector Standards for Municipal Financial 
Reporting. 

Regional Water and Sewer Utilities:  The water  
supply and sewage treatment systems that are 
jointly owned, governed and administered by the 
District of Mission and the City of Abbotsford. 

Structural Deficit:  The practice of underestimating 
expenses or overstating revenues when it is more 
likely that the expenses will be higher or the 
revenues will be lower, thus creating a budget 
shortfall. 

Surplus:  (Accumulated) Net economic resources; 
the amount by which all assets, both financial and 
non-financial exceed all liabilities and indicates that 
a government has net resources available to      
provide future services.  (Annual) The difference 
between annual revenues and expenses.  If       
positive it is referred to as Annual Surplus, if     
negative, it is an Annual Deficit. 

Tangible Capital Assets:   Non-financial assets 
which have physical substance that are held for use 
in the production or supply of goods and services, 
have economic lives extending beyond one year, 
and are to be used on an ongoing basis. 

Glossary of Terms 



 

 

 
 
 
 
Brian Antonson, President 
Pam Alexis, Vice-President 
 

Accommodations: 
Danny Plecas,  Director 
Sue Antonson, Dorm Captain 
Mark Gammer, Housekeeping Chair 
Sheila Grant, Accommodation Hospitality Chair 
Bob Ingram, Room Allocation Chair 
Ken Sawers, Site Preparation Chair   

Administration: 
Ann Harper,  Director 
Barbara Coates, Warehouse Co-Chair 
Stuart Coates, Warehouse Co-Chair 
Kyndree Eastman, Risk Management Chair 
Chiara & Allessandro Gladden, Food Concessions  
Co-Chairs 
Julia Renkema, Budget Control Chair 
Gordon Ruley, Legal Services Chair 
John Vissers, Environment Chair 
 

Ceremonies: 
Cal Crawford, Director 
Angel Elias, Marshalling Chair 
Marie Gallant, Volunteer Management Chair 
David Strell, Properties Chair 
Bronwen Sutherland, Entertainment Chair 
 

Communications: 
Jordon West, Director 
Keith Dalgetty, Telephone Systems Chair 
Don Emes, Communication Equipment Chair 
Donna McKay, Switchboard Chair, 
Lance Viney, Electrical Power Chair 
 

Food Services: 
Hans-Peter Bucher, Director 
Linda Dickinson & Debbie Kooy, Volunteer 
Management Food Services Co-Chairs 
Bela Fesus, Participant Meals Chair 
Al LaFontaine, Box Lunches Chair 
Len Strelezki, Public Health Chair 
Andy Warkentin, Equipment-Food Services Chair 
 

Friends of the Games: 
Barbara Bremner, Director 
Grant Mottershead, Director 
Randy Hawes, Recruitment Chair 
Sean Melia, Recognition—CP/FP Chair 
Clare Seeley, Volunteer Management FOG Chair  
 

Medical Services:  
Dr. Peter Robson, Medical Director 
Beverly Dixon, Venue Medical Chair 
Ian Fitzpatrick, Volunteer Management Medical Chair 
David Morris, Whistler Venue Medical Chair 
Erland Pettman, Physiotherapy Chair 
Dr. Keith Wong, Medical Clinic Chair 
Glenda Wonnacott, Medical Inventory Chair 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
Promotions: 
Kayla Johannessen, Director 
Andrew Franklin, Public Relations Chair 
Jean Konda-Witte, Photography Chair 
Samson McCahon, Digital Media Chair 
Abigail Shakespeare, Volunteer Management 
Promotions Chair 
Grant Stolk, Souvenir Program Chair 
 

Protocol: 
Elyssa Lockhart, Director 
Remco Bergman & Bill Derksen, Volunteer Management 
Protocol Co-Chairs 
Maria Hedderson, Hosts Chair 
Alexa Lowe, Medals Chair 
Mady Pechler, Guest Registration Chair 
Amanda Srigley, Receptions Chair 
 

Registration & Results: 
Eden Green, Director 
Shelley Abbot, Results Centre Chair 
Ann Cardus, Volunteer Registration Chair 
Nancy Jellett, Volunteer Management Registration & 
Results Chair 
Diane Kamagianis, Participant Accreditation Chair 
 

Security: 
Shaun Wright, Director 
Vic Barron, Volunteer Management Security Chair 
Alyn Beerda, Traffic Control Chair 
Carrie Harding, Mobile Patrol Chair 
Leanne Hazlewood, Communications Liaison Chair 
Sayeh Hejazi, Special Events Chair 
Jamie Nokes, Sport Venues Chair 
 

Special Events: 
Bob & Leslie Reed, Directors 
Calvin Adams, Volunteer Appreciation Event Chair 
Lee Adams, Volunteer Appreciation Event Chair 
Rogine Battel, Volunteer Management Special Events Chair 
Frank Chan, Community Development Chair 
Kathy Reeves, Participant Special Events Chair 
Tamara Simpson, Holding Area Chair 
 

Sport: 
Steve Sharpe, Director 
Cyndie Anderson, Athletes with a Disability Chair 
Chris Calverley, Venue Management Chair 
Carol Hamilton, Volunteer Management Sport Chair 
Tony Miniaci, Competitions Chair 
Jim Toth, Equipment-Sport Chair 
 

Transportation: 
Bryan Fawcett, Director 
Graham Black, Acting Transportation & Shuttle System 
Chair 
Kim Andruk, Bus Guides Chair 
Darren Chezzi & Glen Roberts, Luggage & Lost and Found 
Co-Chairs 
Mark Hermanson, Shuttle System Acting Chair 
Larry Reist, Buses Chair 
Rose Seifert, Volunteer Management Transportation Chair 

2014 BC Winter Games Directors & Chairs 



 

 

Our purpose is to build a safe and healthy 
community abundant in economic, cultural 
and recreational opportunities 

Audit:   

District of Mission 2014 Annual 

Report is printed responsibly on 

recycled paper. 
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